Multifunctionality of belowground food webs: resource, size and spatial energy channels

Anton M. Potapov^{*}

¹Johann Friedrich Blumenbach Institute of Zoology and Anthropology, Animal Ecology, University of Göttingen, Untere Karspüle 2, 37073, Göttingen, Germany ²A.N. Severtsov Institute of Ecology and Evolution, Russian Academy of Sciences, Leninsky Prospect 33, 119071, Moscow

ABSTRACT

The belowground compartment of terrestrial ecosystems drives nutrient cycling, the decomposition and stabilisation of organic matter, and supports aboveground life. Belowground consumers create complex food webs that regulate functioning, ensure stability and support biodiversity both below and above ground. However, existing soil food-web reconstructions do not match recently accumulated empirical evidence and there is no comprehensive reproducible approach that accounts for the complex resource, size and spatial structure of food webs in soil. Here I build on generic food-web organisation principles and use multifunctional classification of soil protists, invertebrates and vertebrates, to reconstruct a 'multichannel' food web across size classes of soil-associated consumers. I infer weighted trophic interactions among trophic guilds using feeding preferences and prey protection traits (evolutionarily inherited traits), size and spatial distributions (niche overlaps), and biomass-dependent feeding. I then use food-web reconstruction, together with assimilation efficiencies, to calculate energy fluxes assuming a steady-state energetic system. Based on energy fluxes, I propose a number of indicators, related to stability, biodiversity and multiple ecosystem-level functions such as herbivory, top-down control, translocation and transformation of organic matter. I illustrate this approach with an empirical example, comparing it with traditional resource-focused soil food-web reconstruction. The multichannel reconstruction can be used to assess 'trophic multifunctionality' (analogous to ecosystem multifunctionality), i.e. simultaneous support of multiple trophic functions by the food web, and compare it across communities and ecosystems spanning beyond the soil. With further empirical validation of the proposed functional indicators, this multichannel reconstruction approach could provide an effective tool for understanding animal diversity-ecosystem functioning relationships in soil. This tool hopefully will inspire more researchers to describe soil communities and belowground-aboveground interactions comprehensively. Such studies will provide informative indicators for including consumers as active agents in biogeochemical models, not only locally but also on regional and global scales.

Key words: soil food web, energy flux, network analysis, omnivory, functional traits, predator–prey interactions, feeding preferences, trophic guilds, ecosystem functioning, trophic multifunctionality

CONTENTS

Introduction	
(1) Belowground communities and ecosystem functioning	
(2) Holistic approach to describe the consumer community in soil	
(3) Belowground food-web reconstructions	
(4) Revision of belowground food webs with novel tools	
Essential concepts in functional soil food-web research	1693
(1) Basal resources of soil food webs	
(2) Resource stoichiometry and assimilation efficiency	
(3) Trophic guilds and taxonomic groups	
(4) Size classes of soil consumers	
	Introduction (1) Belowground communities and ecosystem functioning (2) Holistic approach to describe the consumer community in soil (3) Belowground food-web reconstructions (4) Revision of belowground food webs with novel tools (5) Basal resources of soil food webs (1) Basal resources of soil food webs (2) Resource stoichiometry and assimilation efficiency (3) Trophic guilds and taxonomic groups (4) Size classes of soil consumers

* Address for correspondence (Tel: +49 (0) 551 3925800; E-mail: potapov.msu@gmail.com).

Biological Reviews **97** (2022) 1691–1711 © 2022 The Author. *Biological Reviews* published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

	(5) Predator-prey interactions, mass ratios and traits	
	(6) Vertical stratification of soil food webs	
	(7) Metabolic ecology and energy flux approach	
III.	Reconstruction of multichannel food webs	1698
	(1) Food-web reconstruction	
	(2) From interactions to functions	
	(3) Describing the trophic hierarchy of energy channels	
	(4) Assessing multifunctionality and energetic inequality	
	(5) Case study and comparison with traditional reconstructions	
IV.	Evaluation and the way forward	1706
	(1) Critical evaluation and knowledge gaps	
	(2) Expanding dimensionality	
	(3) Beyond the soil	
V.	Conclusions	1707
VI.	Acknowledgements	1708
VII.	References	1708
VIII.	Supporting information	1711
VI. VII. VIII.	Acknowledgements	

I. INTRODUCTION

(1) Belowground communities and ecosystem functioning

Belowground communities regulate the decomposition and sequestration of organic matter in terrestrial ecosystems. Because they are responsible for processing a major part of primary production (Cebrian, 1999), the detrital system plays a central role in the carbon cycle (Clemmensen et al., 2013; Averill, Turner & Finzi, 2014; Crowther et al., 2019), nitrogen cycle (Li et al., 2019) and other biogeochemical cycles (Xu, Thornton & Post, 2013; Crowther et al., 2019). Microorganisms carry out the basic soil ecosystem processes. Nevertheless, consumers of microorganisms and plant materials have strong indirect effects on these processes via microbial grazing, litter shredding, organic matter transformation and translocation (Lavelle et al., 1997; Briones, 2014; Filser et al., 2016; Thakur & Geisen, 2019). However, the direction and magnitude of consumer effects are context dependent and hard to predict and thus common global biogeochemical models often simply ignore them (Deckmyn et al., 2020). In recent years, considerable progress has been made in understanding the global distribution patterns of soil consumers (Crowther et al., 2019; Phillips et al., 2019; van den Hoogen et al., 2019; Guerra et al., 2020; Oliverio et al., 2020; Potapov et al., 2020) and calls to account for soil fauna in global biogeochemical models are becoming increasingly common (Filser et al., 2016; Grandy et al., 2016; Soong & Nielsen, 2016; Deckmyn et al., 2020). Some models have already been suggested (Chertov et al., 2017; Deckmyn et al., 2020). However, the success of any models developed depends largely on whether or not they correctly depict the key functional groups and their interactions in soil.

(2) Holistic approach to describe the consumer community in soil

Soil communities include a huge diversity of consumers that spans phyla, size classes, trophic levels, and vertical layers (Anderson, 1975; Swift, Heal & Anderson, 1979; Coleman, Callaham & Crossley Jr, 2017; Potapov et al., 2021b). Soil ecosystem functioning is driven by multiple components of the soil biota, including microorganisms, micro- meso- and macrofauna (Bradford et al., 2002; Wagg et al., 2014; Delgado-Baquerizo et al., 2020). This functional complexity calls for a holistic approach to describing soil communities across consumers of different body sizes, similar to the size spectrum approach commonly used in marine ecosystems (Blanchard et al., 2017). There have been several conceptual and empirical attempts to apply the size spectrum approach to terrestrial belowground communities (Mulder, 2006; Petchey & Belgrano, 2010; Turnbull, George & Lindo, 2014), but they provide only simplified information because terrestrial food webs have more complex size structures than marine ones (Potapov et al., 2019a, 2021b). The food-web framework is, however, a promising way of describing the functioning of terrestrial food webs because it unites the functional, biodiversity and stability aspects of biological systems (Hines et al., 2015; Barnes et al., 2018). Indeed, soil food-web properties may explain various soil functions better than environmental variation alone (de Vries et al., 2013).

(3) Belowground food-web reconstructions

Most studies exploring the functioning of soil food webs assume a dominant role of basal resources in structuring food-web topology, stemming from the seminal work of Hunt *et al.* (1987). These 'traditional' resource-based reconstructions were used to estimate energy fluxes and quantify nitrogen mineralisation in bacterial, fungal and plant energy channels in grasslands and agroecosystems (Hunt *et al.*, 1987; de Ruiter *et al.*, 1993). The approach also has been used to explore patterns of interaction strengths and was developed into the concept of 'fast' (e.g. bacterial) *versus* 'slow' (e.g. fungal) energy channels, jointly driving ecosystem stability (de Ruiter, Neutel & Moore, 1995; Rooney *et al.*, 2006). However, these ideas were mostly conceptualised for, and applied to, micro-food webs (protists, nematodes, microarthropods) in soil (Moore, McCann & de Ruiter, 2005) because it is more difficult to apply such ideas to macro-food webs (insects, spiders, myriapods) where resource-based energy channelling is reticulated (Wolkovich, 2016; Potapov *et al.*, 2021b).

Another set of studies diagnosed soil food-web structure and functioning using the abundance distribution of body size classes of soil biota from bacteria to earthworms (Mulder, 2006; Mulder, den Hollander & Hendriks, 2008; Mulder & Elser, 2009). The core idea of this 'allometric' approach is that the abundance-body mass relationship can serve as an indicator of environmental changes and is also linked to ecosystem functions performed by different size classes (Mulder & Elser, 2009; Petchey & Belgrano, 2010; Turnbull et al., 2014). The link between size spectrum and food-web structure is based on the assumption of a linear correlation between body size and trophic level across the food web. However, this correlation is weak and multidirectional in soil (Potapov et al., 2021b). The size spectrum approach is also simplistic because it does not account for traits other than body size, such as food resource preferences and the spatial distribution of soil organisms.

The importance of the spatial distribution of energy fluxes in soil food webs has been emphasised on the microscale, e.g. rhizosphere processes, on the macroscale, e.g. below-aboveground energy transfer by mobile fauna (Scheu, 2001; Wardle *et al.*, 2004) and for the horizontal patchiness of soil communities (Ettema & Wardle, 2002). For example, soil food-web structure can vary with soil depth due to differences in the vertical distribution of different functional groups of soil fauna (Berg & Bengtsson, 2007). However, there is no systematic study of the spatial organisation of energy channelling in soil food webs beyond the microscale.

Three, mostly independent, research directions are suggested by the literature overview above. These three correspond to three dimensions of soil food-web structure: (i) resource-based energy channelling, (ii) body size distribution and *(iii)* spatial organisation of trophic interactions in soil. Jointly, these structural dimensions are able to describe various aspects of functioning of soil food webs and their role in terrestrial ecosystems. Despite recognition that niche separation in soil occurs along more than one axis (e.g. food, habitat, time; Moore, Walter & Hunt, 1988), so far, soil food-web reconstructions and analyses have focused on a single food-web dimension. Moreover, trophic interactions in soil food webs are generally reconstructed based on uncertain knowledge or on traditional assumptions about which interactions occur. How these interactions are identified often lacks transparency and thus cannot be applied across different soil communities. Such reconstructions may, therefore, lack precision and this may affect the ecological conclusions drawn from them. The trophic interactions thus need to be validated against empirical in situ evidence, which has rarely been done previously.

(4) Revision of belowground food webs with novel tools

The methodological toolbox in soil trophic ecology is now much more diverse than it was some 20-30 years ago. Novel tools such as stable isotopes, fatty acids, and gut DNA analyses provide more realistic empirical descriptions of trophic links and food-web structure in cryptic belowground communities (Brose & Scheu, 2014; Potapov et al., 2021a). The use of such novel tools has changed our understanding of soil food-web structure and functioning (Bradford, 2016). It has become evident that a major part of the energy fuelling soil food webs is root derived (Ostle et al., 2007; Pollierer et al., 2007) and channelled through both bacterial and fungal pathways (Pollierer et al., 2012; de Vries & Caruso, 2016). It was also emphasised that feeding across multiple energy channels is widespread for most belowground consumers, including many microfaunal groups (Digel et al., 2014; Geisen, 2016; Wolkovich, 2016). At the same time, a range of feeding strategies was revealed in decomposer mesofauna groups, such as Collembola and Oribatida (Maraun et al., 2011; Potapov et al., 2016). The role of ectomycorrhizal mycelia as a major food resource for soil fauna has been challenged (Potapov & Tiunov, 2016; Bluhm et al., 2019), while soil autotrophic microorganisms are a potentially overlooked one (Schmidt, Dyckmans & Schrader, 2016; Seppey et al., 2017; Potapov, Korotkevich & Tiunov, 2018). However, these findings have been largely ignored in existing soil food-web reconstructions. In a recent review, Potapov et al. (2022) attempted to synthesise classic knowledge with these recent findings by reviewing literature on the feeding habits of individual animal groups. The conceptual paper presented herein is based on information in that previous review and aims to develop a holistic approach to describe soil food webs across their resource, body size and spatial dimensions and deliver a set of functional indicators that describe the effects of consumers on ecosystem functioning and stability. In the following chapters I first revise generic food-web organisation principles in relation to the soil system, then describe the multichannel food-web reconstruction approach and suggest functional indicators illustrating them with a hypothetical and an empirical example, and finally discuss the limitations of the approach, the main knowledge gaps and a way forward for soil food-web research.

II. ESSENTIAL CONCEPTS IN FUNCTIONAL SOIL FOOD-WEB RESEARCH

(1) Basal resources of soil food webs

Energy in food webs flows through consumer trophic chains, which may be clustered in energy channels based on a certain similarity. Resource-based energy channelling clusters trophic chains on the basis of the basal resources they use. This is probably the most common way to understand the structure and functioning of belowground food webs (Fig. 1A).

However, the classification of basal resources and corresponding energy channels is often unclear. For example, the traditional distinction of root, bacterial and fungal energy channels (Hunt et al., 1987) is hardly applicable to macrofauna detritivores feeding mainly on litter and soil organic matter, and ignores autotrophic microorganisms. The general distinction between green and brown (i.e. grazing and detrital) channels (Moore et al., 2004) introduces ambiguity in the case of food chains based on root exudates and mycorrhizal fungi that are associated with living plant roots (i.e. green energy channel) being intimately interlinked with soil organic matter sequestration and decomposition (i.e. brown energy channel). Revision of these concepts should be the subject of a focused study introducing ontologies to reduce ambiguity and increase the reproducibility of soil food-web research. Herein I consider basal resources as the main organic pools at the base of the soil food web that support soil consumers and that are associated with different ecosystem-level processes (Fig. 2). Different feeding adaptations are needed to consume different basal resources and by feeding on different resources consumers affect different ecosystem processes, including transformation, translocation and decomposition of organic matter, nutrient mineralisation, plant growth, microbial dispersal and others (Briones, 2014).

(2) Resource stoichiometry and assimilation efficiency

Basal food resources of soil food webs vary greatly in their elemental proportions and profitability for consumers.

Assimilation efficiency, i.e. the proportion of ingested food that is assimilated by a consumer, will differ among resources such as living plants, detritus, microorganisms and animal tissues (Jochum et al., 2017; Lang et al., 2017). Detritivores have to eat more food to maintain stoichiometric ratios of C:N:P in their bodies (Pokarzhevskii et al., 2003; Jochum et al., 2017) and thus consume a larger volume of food than, for example, predators do. Detritivores with a low assimilation efficiency exhibit the largest effects on their environment via feeding activities, as exemplified by earthworms that consume hundreds of tons of soil per hectare per year (Lavelle & Martin, 1992). Thus, assimilation efficiency is one of the important parameters for quantifying ecosystem-level effects of resource-consumer interactions (see Section (7)). Assimilation efficiency can be predicted well by using, for example, the nitrogen concentration of the food resources (Jochum et al., 2017). Accounting for nitrogen concentrations or C to N ratios in resources and consumers is thus a promising approach for predicting interaction strengths in soil food webs (Buchkowski & Lindo, 2021).

(3) Trophic guilds and taxonomic groups

Food webs are often reconstructed based on 'trophic species' that represent groups of biological species that share a similar pool of resources and predators (Yodzis & Winemiller, 1999; Luczkovich *et al.*, 2003). In soil, such groups are traditionally termed trophic guilds and have a more functional focus, being linked to the exploitation of a specific basal resource



Fig. 1. Structural facets of energy channelling in soil food webs. (A) Energy channels based on different resources have different turnover rates and control different ecosystem-level processes such as herbivory, decomposition and nutrient cycling. The 'brown channel' unites detrital (grey lines), and fungal and bacterial channels (dark yellow lines); the 'green channel' is based on living autotrophic organisms (green lines); predators couple different resource-based channels (red lines). For resource abbreviations refer to Fig. 2. (B) Different size classes of soil consumers impact different ecosystem functions and are controlled by different environmental factors. Energy from all resources is channelled in parallel *via* several size-based energy channels, each coupled by different predatory groups. (C) Consumers in the soil rely on spatially structured basal resources, and translocate organic matter vertically and horizontally, subsidising aboveground predators with prey biomass *via* vertical movements of soil fauna and winged insects that develop in the soil.

Biological Reviews 97 (2022) 1691–1711 © 2022 The Author. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.



Fig. 2. Basal resources and corresponding consumer trophic guilds in soil food webs. Animals and protists feeding on both detritus and microorganisms form a general guild of 'decomposers' that affect decomposition *via* food consumption. Decomposer prokaryotes and fungi, i.e. 'saprotrophs', are considered as resources in the present framework. Abbreviations for resources are given in parentheses; synonyms are given in square brackets. Colours highlight the 'brown' (grey and dark yellow) and 'green' energy channels (green). Dissolved organic matter is assumed to be used primarily by prokaryotes and fungi and thus is not explicitly considered here. Summarised from Swift *et al.* (1979), Striganova (1980), Hunt *et al.* (1987) and Potapov *et al.* (2022).

in a specific way, and even having similar microhabitat preferences (Moore et al., 1988; Faber, 1991; Brussaard, 1998). To obtain correct estimates of food consumption, such groups should also share similar physiology and stoichiometry (Buchkowski & Lindo, 2021). In most reconstructions, pure trophic classifications such as detritivores, bacterivores, fungivores, herbivores, carnivores and omnivores are mixed with high-rank taxonomic classifications (Hunt *et al.*, 1987; de Vries et al., 2013; Gongalsky et al., 2021). This is justified, not only because taxonomic identification is the basis of foodweb research, but also because trophic niches in soil fauna can, to a large extent, be predicted using phylogenetic (taxonomic) relationships among groups (Cardoso et al., 2011; Potapov et al., 2016; Potapov, Scheu & Tiunov, 2019c). A hybrid taxonomic and guild approach (Brousseau, Gravel & Handa, 2018; Laigle et al., 2018) also allows consideration of a number of phylogenetically conserved traits such as physiology, stoichiometry, and reproductive and defence strategies. Even though there are several reviews of the commonly used trophic guilds and functional groups (e.g. Moore et al., 1988; Brussaard, 1998; Briones, 2014), no comprehensive trophic guild classification across size classes in soil has previously been compiled, nor has a common vocabulary across taxa been clearly defined. For the present study, commonly used trophic classifications corresponding to the basal resources are provided in Fig. 2. In the reconstruction below, I rely on the multifunctional classification compiled in the accompanying review (Potapov *et al.*, 2022).

(4) Size classes of soil consumers

Consumers, from protists to large invertebrates, may span from few micrometres to dozens of centimetres in body length and over 12 orders of magnitude in body mass in a single soil community (Mulder et al., 2008; Potapov et al., 2021b). Body size is a very general trait that affects a number of organism characteristics including metabolism, growth rate and trophic interaction partners among others (Brown et al., 2004; Woodward et al., 2005). Different size classes in soil inhabit different environments (water, air pores and holes, or bulk soil), have different mobility restrictions and vertical stratification, exhibit different degrees of trophic specialisation, and vary in their engineering roles (Fig. 3) (Scheu & Setälä, 2002; Wardle, 2002; Briones, 2014; Erktan et al., 2020). However, body size is poorly related to the trophic level across the entire food web since top predators are present in different size classes (Fig. 1B) (Potapov et al., 2019a, 2021b). The conventional classification into micro-, meso- and macrofauna is based primarily on body width, since it is the main characteristic that restricts the

movement abilities of organisms in the soil (Swift et al., 1979). For food-web analysis, living body mass is very important since it provides information on which prey a predator is able to handle (Cohen et al., 1993). The body mass perspective results in elongated animals such as nematodes, myriapods and oligochaetes being assigned to larger size classes than those based on body width and to smaller size classes than those based on body length (Fig. 3) (Potapov et al., 2021b). Non-linear variations in trophic level with body mass suggest that small-sized soil-dwelling microarthropods are involved in micro-food webs together with microfauna, as depicted also in traditional soil food-web models (Hunt et al., 1987; Potapov et al., 2021b). By contrast, large microarthropods that live mostly in fresh litter and on the ground surface, are involved in macro-food webs (Potapov et al., 2021b). Describing soil communities using the size spectrum approach has the further advantage of correctly evaluating the food-web roles and ecosystem impacts of juvenile organisms (Gongalsky, 2021; Potapov et al., 2021b). Since different size classes of soil consumers impact different ecosystem functions and are controlled by different environmental factors, the size spectrum is an integrative indicator for the soil community (Mulder, 2006).

(5) Predator-prey interactions, mass ratios and traits

Generalist feeding is a common feature in soil food webs and is especially evident in predatory groups (Scheu & Setälä, 2002; Digel *et al.*, 2014). However, generalist feeding greatly hinders the systematic occurrence of species-specific interactions in soil. Such interactions are rare because communication (whether chemical or in other forms) between animals in the soil is difficult and because community composition is very variable across space. When an empirical assessment of trophic interactions is not feasible, trophic interactions are reconstructed based on expert knowledge and existing evidence in the literature (Hunt et al., 1987; Digel et al., 2014). Generalist feeding makes realistic the assumption that most of the physically possible interactions actually may occur in nature. However, the occurrence and frequency of such interactions should be assessed for specific communities and environmental conditions. Predator-prey mass ratios (PPMRs) can be used to define interactions that are possible physically (and energetically profitable) (Brose et al., 2008) (Fig. 4A). Body masses alone correctly predict more than 50% of trophic interactions across size classes of consumers in marine and aboveground food webs where trophic interactions are typically more specialised ('allometric' models; Petchey et al., 2008). The few PPMR estimates that exist for soil predators suggest that the optimum varies around 100, i.e. the predator is approximately 100 times heavier than its optimum prey (Brose et al., 2008). However, purely allometric models have a large uncertainty when being tested against empirical data on soil macropredators (Eitzinger et al., 2018). Indeed, predators may also feed on prey much smaller, or handle prey of comparable size, depending on specific predator and prey traits (Fig. 4B) (Brose et al., 2019). In soil communities, key traits that may modify PPMRs, and the presence and intensity of predator-prey interactions, are often attributed to certain taxonomic groups and include hunting adaptations and



Nutrient mineralisation, trophic specialisation, abundance, turnover rate, dormant stages

Engineering role, mobility, feeding generalism, biomass

Fig. 3. Body mass spectrum of consumers in soil. Well-established soil communities embrace consumers spanning over 12 orders of magnitude in body mass. Small-sized consumers have a high turnover rate and affect nutrient cycling *via* microbial grazing. Large-sized consumers have a high biomass and play important engineering roles in soil *via* transformation and translocation of organic matter. Predator–prey trophic interactions (black arrows) occur predominantly among organisms of similar size, with micro-food webs being partially disconnected and consumed by macrodetritivores as a whole (e.g. protists–oligochaetes dashed arrow). Summarised from Lavelle (1996), Scheu & Setälä (2002), Pokarzhevskii *et al.* (2003), Erktan, Or & Scheu (2020) and Potapov *et al.* (2021b).

(A) Allometric predation



(B) Allometric predation, effect of a predator trait (pack hunting)



Fig. 4. Feasible predator–prey interactions depend on body mass ratios. Small prey has a low handling time, but also is less energetically profitable than large prey, shaping an 'optimum' predator–prey mass ratio (PPMR) distribution (Brose *et al.*, 2008). (A) Optimum PPMR together with population body mass distribution of a predator (orange-filled distribution) and a prey (grey-filled distribution) can be used to predict interaction strength between them (overlap of the lined 'optimum' prey body mass distribution with the grey distribution). (B) Specific traits of predator and prey may modify PPMR and interaction strength. Despite ants being smaller than earthworms, pack hunting and venom shifts and widens the PPMR distribution, making the predation feasible.

ingestion mechanisms of predators, as well as protective metabolites, physical structures and behaviour of prey (Table 1) (Brousseau *et al.*, 2018; Laigle *et al.*, 2018). For example, strongly sclerotised groups such as oribatid mites have been shown to be rarely attacked by predators (Peschel *et al.*, 2006). However, the effectiveness of different protection mechanisms against different predators has not been systematically studied in soil. Together with body mass, these traits are expected to provide more realistic reconstructions of trophic interactions in generalist soil food webs.

(6) Vertical stratification of soil food webs

Soil is a stratified environment so that there are divergent evolutionary pressures on fauna living on the surface, and those in the mineral soil (Ghilarov, 1949). These divergent pressures create vertical stratification of forms and functions in soil communities (Ellers *et al.*, 2018). Mobile 'epigeic' groups of arthropods inhabit the surfaces of fallen leaves, wood, stones, and bare soil; 'hemiedaphic' invertebrates inhabit coarse detritus, such as decomposing litter or wood; 'endogeic' invertebrates inhabit lower organic and mineral soil layers, including the rhizosphere. Classifications related to vertical stratification have been developed for different soil taxa including, for example, earthworms (Bouché, 1977), 1697

springtails (Gisin, 1943) and gastropods (Ellers et al., 2018). Vertical stratification of taxonomic groups propagates to the corresponding vertical stratification in the structure and energy fluxes in soil food webs (Berg & Bengtsson, 2007; Okuzaki et al., 2009) and related ecosystem functions (Faber, 1991). Moreover, the spatial distribution of basal resources also structures energy channelling in soil food webs: fresh organic detritus and algae are more abundant in the surface layers, while soil organic matter and roots are more abundant in the mineral soil (Fig. 1C) (Ponge, 2000). Vertical stratification also provides information on the spatial niche differentiation among different functional groups (Faber, 1991) that limits predator-prey interactions among groups that live in different lavers. Many large fauna, however, move vertically through the soil profile during their development, or depending on the environmental conditions (Dowdy, 1944). This pattern is especially evident for holometabolous insects (flies, beetles) many of which have larval stages in the soil and flying adults (Ghilarov, 1949). But even true soil-dwelling invertebrates, such as earthworms, channel energy from soil organic matter 'directly to the sky' when they are eaten by birds (Fig. 1C). Detrital subsidy is probably indispensable for aboveground predators in virtually all terrestrial ecosystems, but its quantification and origin have seldom been studied (Scheu, 2001; Hyodo, Kohzu & Tayasu, 2010; Hyodo et al., 2015).

(7) Metabolic ecology and energy flux approach

The impacts of soil animals and protists on ecosystem functioning are, in most cases, linked to the consumption of other consumers, microorganisms, litter and soil and to burrowing in search of food. Consumption rate, in turn, is defined primarily by the metabolic demands of an organism - the amount of energy it needs to sustain its life. The metabolic rate scales sublinearly with living body mass, varies with phylogenetic position of the consumer, and increases steadily with environmental temperature (Brown et al., 2004; Ehnes, Rall & Brose, 2011). Metabolic rate accounts for the different metabolic demands of small and large organisms per unit of body mass and is thus a universally comparable measure of organism and population impacts on ecosystem functioning across size classes, superior to biomass or numeric abundance. Resource consumption rate depends primarily on the metabolic demands of an organism and on the efficiency with which it can assimilate its food resources (see Section (2)). In an energetically steady-state system (i.e. losses equal gains for each food-web node), consumption rate also depends on the position of a consumer in the food web because lower trophic levels sustain higher trophic levels with energy. Consumption rate, after accounting for assimilation efficiency and losses of energy to higher trophic levels in the food web, represents the total energy flux out of all resource nodes to a consumer, which can be used as a measure of its ecosystem-level impact (Barnes et al., 2014, 2018). The energy flux approach has been applied in traditional soil food-web models to quantify the contribution of soil consumers to nitrogen mineralisation (Hunt et al., 1987; de

Trait description	Exemplar groups	Expected effect	References
Predator traits			
Parasitic – animal parasites are typically much smaller than their hosts	Parasitic nematodes and protists	$PPMR \ll 1$	
<i>Filtering the environment</i> – feeding on the environment to filter the prey	Earthworms	$PPMR \gg 100$	Pokarzhevskii et al. (2003)
Mass predation – adaptations, such as the tongue of an anteater, allowing hunting of many prey targets (usually social insects) simultaneously	Anteaters	PPMR >100	Redford (1985)
<i>Cooperative hunting</i> – joint handling of prey with accomplices, allows handling of larger prey	Ants, some pseudoscorpions	Increases PPMR range	Cerdá & Dejean (2011)
<i>Venom</i> – venom paralyses and allows handling of larger prey	Spiders, centipedes, ants	Increases PPMR range	Cerdá & Dejean (2011); Laigle et al. (2018)
Hunting devices – adaptations, such as spiders webs, allow to handle larger prev	Spiders	Increases PPMR range	Herberstein (2011)
Prey traits			
Protective metabolites – e.g. poison. Requires specific adaptations to overcome and thus reduces predation at community level	Some diplopods, termites, amphibians and others	Reduces interaction strength	Eisenbeis & Wichard (1987)
<i>Physical protection</i> – protective cover, e.g. strong cuticle, shell, scales or spines	Oribatid mites, isopods, millipedes, gastropods, testate amoebae	Reduces interaction strength	Bauer & Pfeiffer (1991); Peschel <i>et al.</i> (2006)
<i>Agility</i> – morphological adaptations allowing an animal to escape rapidly from a predator (e.g. jumping)	Springtails, orthopterans	Potentially reduces predation pressure	Hopkin (1997); Larabee & Suarez (2015)
<i>Camivore</i> – carnivore may strike back while being attacked	Predatory groups	Potentially reduces predation pressure	

Table 1. Predator and prey traits, modifying interaction strength and predator-prey mass ratios (PPMRs). Numbers that are shown in the 'expected effects' column are general theoretical expectations rather than strict rules

Ruiter *et al.*, 1993). More recently, the approach was linked to biodiversity and expanded to include more ecosystem functions (Barnes *et al.*, 2014, 2018; Jochum *et al.*, 2021). For instance, Barnes *et al.* (2014) infer ecosystem functions such as herbivory, decomposition and predation from the energy fluxes to corresponding trophic guilds of macroinvertebrates.

Widespread application of this approach to soil food webs, however, is hampered by the generalist feeding of soil animals and their poorly documented feeding preferences. Both these factors often make trophic guild assignment uncertain. We therefore need more realistic reconstructions, incorporating different aspects of detritivory, widespread omnivory and multichannel feeding, and specific body size and spatial structures of soil food webs. Such realistic reconstructions will better describe mechanisms behind animal diversity– ecosystem functioning relationships in soil. Below, I build on the classification of soil consumers given in Potapov *et al.* (2022) to reconstruct soil food webs. I then use the energy flux approach, as implemented in the R package *fluxweb* (Gauzens *et al.*, 2019), to propose novel indicators of their functioning. The suggested multichannel reconstruction unites the resource, size and spatial dimensions of soil food webs and can be applied from a local to a global scale.

III. RECONSTRUCTION OF MULTICHANNEL FOOD WEBS

(1) Food-web reconstruction

I propose a novel 'multichannel' approach of soil food-web reconstruction which predicts trophic interaction strengths in a given soil community using prior knowledge of species biology, basic food-web principles and the key traits of consumers. Multichannel reconstruction of soil food webs relies on trophic guilds as the network nodes that are distinguished based on multiple trait similarities. The assignment of traits to groups can be based on published, or directly measured, empirical data. The reconstruction of trophic interactions among groups is based on trait relationships that are extrapolated from existing experiments to generic rules. The approach thus produces a hypothetical food-web structure

that describes reality to the best extent possible given current knowledge. The reconstruction approach is conceptually close to the multidimensional niche model of food-web reconstruction, which assumes that trophic interactions are formed and selected along several trait dimensions (Allesina, Alonso & Pascual, 2008). Here, these dimensions are represented by phylogenetically defined feeding preferences, body sizes, protection mechanisms and vertical stratification as well as other traits that are expected to modify PPMR or consumption rate (see Section II). Each of the trait dimensions is used to produce a plausible interaction matrix, with all matrices finally multiplied together (Fig. 5; see online Supporting Information, Appendix S1 for a detailed description of food-web reconstruction, and Appendix S2 for the associated R code). The full list of trophic guilds and corresponding traits was compiled in an accompanying review (Potapov et al., 2022) and is provided in Tables S1 and S2. The following assumptions were used to calculate plausible interaction matrices and reconstruct trophic links:

- (1) There are phylogenetically inherited differences in feeding preferences for various basal resources and predation capability among soil animal taxa that define their feeding interactions (Laigle *et al.*, 2018; Potapov *et al.*, 2019c). These preferences were assigned according to information in Potapov *et al.* (2022) (see Table S2).
- (2) Predator-prey interactions are primarily defined by the optimum PPMR. Typically, a predator is larger than its prey, but certain predator traits (hunting devices and behaviour, parasitic lifestyle) can considerably modify the optimum PPMR (Fig. 4; Table S3).
- (3) Strength of the trophic interaction between a predator and a prey is defined by the overlap in their spatial niches related to vertical differentiation, with greater overlap leading to stronger interactions.
- (4) Predation is density (biomass) dependent (Gauzens *et al.*, 2019). Due to a higher encounter rate, predators will preferentially feed on prey that is locally abundant.
- (5) Strength of the trophic interaction between a predator and a prey can be considerably reduced by prey protective traits (Peschel *et al.*, 2006; see Table S4).

To illustrate this multichannel reconstruction process, I selected groups from the list of trophic guilds of soil consumers that commonly co-exist in the soil food webs of temperate forests (Table S1). I followed the assumptions described above to produce the most probable weighted trophic interaction matrix. Similar approaches have been applied before to reconstruct invertebrate food webs (Digel *et al.*, 2014; Hines *et al.*, 2019). Here, however, I make the assumptions behind such reconstructions clearer and more reproducible for future studies. The reconstruction included trophic levels from primary consumers to intraguild predators and size classes from protists to vertebrates (Fig. 6). In this reconstruction, I assumed that the biomasses of all nodes were equal and ignored metabolic losses across nodes because of the lack of an appropriate empirical

data set. Thus, the interaction strengths in this hypothetical example are feeding preferences that are assumed to represent energy fluxes, with the goal of illustrating the multichannel food-web reconstruction concept. Calculation of real energy fluxes is possible by combining this reconstruction with empirical biomass data as implemented in the *fluxweb* package (Gauzens *et al.*, 2019; Jochum *et al.*, 2021) (see Appendix S2).

(2) From interactions to functions

Reconstruction of a food web and calculation of the energy fluxes allows quantification of different aspects of how consumers contribute to ecosystem functioning (see Section (7)). In the absence of the appropriate biomass data, below I assume that the calculated interaction strengths are a proxy for energy fluxes. In comparison with existing applications of the energy flux approach, I treated most basal consumers as omnivores, with many basal resource-consumer links and involvement in different resource-based energy channels (Fig. 7A,B). Omnivory of basal consumers represents multichannel feeding that is widespread in soil decomposers (Brose & Scheu, 2014; Wolkovich, 2016) and is prevalent in most food webs (Thompson et al., 2007; Wolkovich et al., 2014). Ecosystem functions can be inferred from such complex food webs by summing individual fluxes, for example summing all outgoing fluxes from plants to other food-web nodes reflects total herbivory (Barnes et al., 2020) (Fig. 7A).

Focusing on resource-based energy fluxes, it is possible to quantify bacterial versus fungal energy channelling (Fig. 7B), a measure suggested to indicate food-web stability (Moore et al., 2005) and nitrogen mineralisation (de Vries et al., 2013). Resource-based channels are not linked to trophic functions alone. For example, the energy flux from litter represents consumption of litter by the consumer community, and thus is related to litter decomposition, transformation and translocation (Fig. 7B). The energy flux from soil organic matter similarly represents the consumption of soil and thus soil organic matter transformation and translocation, being linked to biopedturbation and the modification of soil structure (Fig. 7B). Such inferences from energy fluxes about effects that are not purely trophic are justified particularly in soil where habitat and food resources are tightly interlinked (Fujii, Berg & Cornelissen, 2020). Nevertheless, their validation requires direct experimentation.

To illustrate the size aspect of food-web compartmentalisation, I classified all consumers linked to basal resources into three size classes: micro (protists and microfauna less than $0.3 \ \mu g$ living body mass), meso (mesofauna and small macrofauna from $0.3 \ \mu g$ to $10 \ m g$) and macro (macrofauna more than $10 \ m g$). Plotting outgoing fluxes from the basal consumers of different sizes shows remarkable differences between the size-based channels (Fig. 7C). Here this distinction arises from the assumption of allometric trophic interactions, however, it confirms existing empirical data and is therefore likely realistic (Potapov *et al.*, 2019a, 2021b). This reconstruction of size-based channels illustrates that basal resources are exploited by different size classes in different proportions and feeding on multiple resources is more



Fig. 5. The algorithm used for multichannel food-web reconstruction. Community and trait matrices are merged and several species–species interaction matrices are calculated based on generic rules (see text). Each interaction matrix represents one trait dimension: feeding preferences, body sizes, spatial preferences, biomasses, and protection. Multiplication of all interaction matrices yields the most probable weighted trophic interaction matrix that then can be used to calculate energy fluxes. Shading intensity shows interaction probability.

pronounced in large primary consumers (Fig. 3). The distribution of energy among different size classes is related to ecosystem functioning and can be used as an integrative functional descriptor of a food web, i.e. an 'energetic size spectrum'. This descriptor has potential to reflect ecosystem functions of consumers better than size spectrum approaches based on biomass or community metabolism (Mulder *et al.*, 2011; Ehnes *et al.*, 2014) because it reflects multitrophic energy fluxes and thus consumption rates. Size-based energy channelling could be combined with resource-based energy channelling to unravel the contribution to resource-related functions of different food-web size compartments.

To illustrate the spatial aspect of food-web compartmentalisation, I classified all consumers linked to basal resources into endogeic (living in soil or lower litter layer) and epigeic (living in the fresh litter or on its surface) (Fig. 7D). Some predator nodes specialised on one of these channels although many were linked to both endogeic and epigeic channels. Differentiation between endogeic and epigeic channels was partly related to body size classes since many large macrofauna predators are surface-dwelling. It was also partly related to resource use due to different resource availability in different layers. The energy flux through the endogeic channel is expected to be related to soil structure modification and rhizosphere processes but the energy flux through the epigeic channel is likely to be related to the detrital subsidy available for aboveground consumers (Hyodo *et al.*, 2015). Thus, soil food webs with high energy flux through the epigeic channel are expected to support a higher biomass and diversity of aboveground consumers (Potapov *et al.*, 2021b).

Classifying energy fluxes according to resource, size and spatial perspectives allows us to ask more precise questions related to food-web functioning, for example which size class in which soil layer is most responsible for processing of a certain resource?

(3) Describing the trophic hierarchy of energy channels

Each energy channel in a food web relies on basal resources or consumers and can be tracked to higher trophic levels.



Fig. 6. Reconstructed multichannel meta-food-web of temperate forests, from protists to vertebrates. The 66 consumer nodes are represented by trophic guilds and are arranged based on body mass (*x*-axis) and trophic level (*y*-axis). Node colours indicate broad quasi-taxonomic groups. Resources are shown with black square labels positioned arbitrarily along the body mass axis. The resources prokaryotes (B) and fungi (F) are positioned at trophic level 2 as they receive energy from dead or living primary producers (trophic level 1). The width and darkness of links indicates feeding preferences inferred from the product of the spatial, size, protection and feeding preference adjacency matrices (only interactions comprising >2% of the budget of the consumer node are shown, see key on top left for scale of interaction). Biomass is assumed to be the same across all nodes and so biomass-dependent feeding preferences are not included. For resource abbreviations see Fig. 2; for trophic guild abbreviations see Table S1.

For each predator, the contribution of different basal resources and pathways to these resources can be described and quantified. Thus, for each channel, the amount of energy that reaches higher trophic levels can be estimated. Summing up predator-prey energy fluxes allows the quantification of 'secondary' and 'tertiary' trophic functions, such as predation, intraguild predation and parasitism (Barnes et al., 2014; Potapov et al., 2019b). These functions can be related to the top-down control of the entire food web, a specific energy channel, or a specific consumer. This can be quantitatively assessed by calculating the ratio of the outgoing energy flux from a food-web node to the biomass of the node (Barnes et al., 2020) or by calculating the ratio of the energy fluxes at the bottom and at the top of the food-web. Such 'energy flux pyramids' of primary, secondary and tertiary trophic interactions can vary substantially not only across food webs, but also within a food web across different energy channels (Fig. 7). Even though my reconstruction did not include biomasses, it recovered several expected patterns in the ratios of secondary to primary energy fluxes (S/P) based solely on feeding interaction strengths. For example, top-down control was higher (larger S/P ratios) in microand meso- than in macro-food webs (Potapov *et al.*, 2019b, 2021b) and it was higher for plant-based than for soil-based energy channels (Fig. 7A,B). Specific research questions related to top-down or bottom-up control can be addressed with the energy flux approach, depending on the completeness of the food-web reconstruction (Fig. 8).

(4) Assessing multifunctionality and energetic inequality

Ecosystem functioning is inherently multidimensional, which has fuelled a spectrum of studies assessing multiple ecosystem



(A) Tracking trophic functions along the trophic chains

Fig. 7. Inferring ecosystem functioning based on energy fluxes in soil food web. In the absence of biomass data, the calculated feeding interaction strengths (see Fig. 6) are assumed to be a proxy for energy fluxes. The sum of outgoing energy fluxes from a specific food resource represents the total consumption of this resource and is thus related to corresponding ecosystem function(s). Interactions of the first (solid lines), second (dashed) and third (dotted) trophic levels indicate the proportion of energy that is channelled to the next trophic level through a specific channel. The ratio of secondary to primary energy flux (S/P) is related to energy transfer efficiency and top-down control in the corresponding energy channel (A, B), or in the entire food web. For example, the sum of energy fluxes from plants to plant consumers is related to ecosystem-level herbivory (primary herbivory) (A). Channelling of energy through micro-(<0.3 μ g), meso- (0.3 μ g to 10 mg) and macro- (>10 mg) food-web compartments is related to a number of ecosystem-level processes that are driven by different size classes of soil consumers (see Fig. 2) (C). Channelling of energy through endogeic (living in soil or lower litter layers) or epigeic (living in fresh litter or on its surface) food-web compartments is related to detrital subsidy and above–belowground interactions (D). Line thickness is proportional to interaction strength. A full version of this network is provided in Fig. 6. See Fig. 2 for resource abbreviations.

functions simultaneously, i.e. ecosystem 'multifunctionality' (Wagg *et al.*, 2014; Manning *et al.*, 2018; Grass *et al.*, 2020). Total energy flux in a food-web has been suggested to be a proxy for ecosystem multifunctionality, since it comprises the sum of individual trophic functions. However, if a single trophic function predominates, total energy flux does not reflect functional diversity. In that case, approaches that

consider all functions to be equally important are preferable (Potapov *et al.*, 2019b). 'Total flux', 'average flux' and 'flux threshold' approaches resemble the 'summing', 'averaging' and 'threshold' approaches commonly used to assess multifunctionality (Manning *et al.*, 2018). By treating individual resource, size and spatial energy channels as functions, it is possible to calculate different multifunctionality indices for



L W

S

Fig. 8. Assessing specific food-web processes with energy fluxes. In this model, the calculated feeding interaction strengths are assumed to be a proxy for energy fluxes. The sum of energy fluxes from hosts to parasites can be used to assess community-level parasitism (A). The sum of outgoing energy fluxes from a pest can be used to quantify its top-down control (Barnes *et al.*, 2020) and identify potential key biocontrol agents (B). The sum of incoming energy fluxes to a bird can be used to identify potential animal groups and basal resources that play the most important role in its nutrition (C). See Fig. 6 for a full version of the network. Resource abbreviations are defined in Fig. 2.

A P

soil food webs using the multichannel reconstruction (Table 2).

W S

L

А

Another key aspect of a food-web is stability. Development of the resource-based energy channelling paradigm in soil food webs allowed the formulation of the concept of ecosystem stability as being driven by the balance between the fast (e.g. bacterial) and the slow (e.g. fungal) energy channels (Moore et al., 2005; Rooney et al., 2006). I suggest that this vision can be extended, for soil organisms, beyond 'bacterial versus fungal' energy channelling to include other resource- and body size-related energy channels (Potapov et al., 2021b). My hypothesis is that ecosystem stability and multifunctionality are both linked to the balance across different energy channels, decreasing in food webs with large energetic imbalances. Such imbalances can be observed across resources (e.g. bacteriadominated systems), size spectra (e.g. earthworm-dominated systems), spatial distribution (e.g. ground surface disturbance) and trophic levels (e.g. systems with overdominance of primary consumers). Inequality could be quantified e.g. with Gini coefficients, widely used in social sciences to quantify income inequality (Table 2) (Ceriani & Verme, 2012).

(5) Case study and comparison with traditional reconstructions

To illustrate the multichannel reconstruction with an empirical example, I re-analysed data on nematodes, mesofauna and macrofauna collected from rainforests and oil palm plantations in Sumatra, Indonesia (Krashevska *et al.*, 2019; Potapov *et al.*, 2019b). I used empirical data on abundance and body masses together with trophic guilds (Table S2) to reconstruct the soil food webs. This reconstruction included biomasses and thus estimations of 'real' energy fluxes. To demonstrate the value of my approach, I applied in parallel multichannel reconstruction (Fig. 9B) and traditional soil food-web reconstruction that assumes differentiated resource-based channelling in soil food webs (Fig. 9A) (Hunt *et al.*, 1987; de Ruiter *et al.*, 1993; Moore *et al.*, 2005). Energy fluxes were assessed in both reconstructions with the *fluxweb* package (Gauzens *et al.*, 2019) and used to calculate a set of functional indicators. Various technical aspects of the energy flux reconstruction are given in Jochum *et al.* (2021). I also calculated basic descriptors of food-web topology: connectance (proportion of realised links), graph centralisation (concentration of interactions around central nodes of the network; Freeman, 1978) and modularity (presence of interaction clusters; Fig. 9C) (Newman & Girvan, 2004; Laigle *et al.*, 2018).

Α

L W

The absolute values of virtually all calculated network parameters and functional indicators differ between the two reconstructions, highlighting the importance of network topology in food-web analysis (Fig. 9C). The multichannel reconstruction resulted in higher network connectance and a slightly lower network modularity, reflecting reticulated energy channels in the soil food-web (Fig. 9B). The multichannel reconstruction also resulted in a lower total energy flux estimation, higher estimations of herbivory and bacterivory and a much lower estimation of detritivory. These differences reflect the trophic level omnivory of soil consumers - most detritivores feed on microorganisms rather than on the dead plant material itself (Swift et al., 1979; Larsen et al., 2016; Steffan et al., 2017; Potapov et al., 2019e). Microbial feeding increases assimilation efficiency in comparison to detrital feeding and reduces the estimations of total energy flux and detritivory compared with dead plant material feeding (Fig. 2).

S

Indicator Calculation Information and hypotheses Total energy flux Sum of all energy fluxes in the food web Reflects ecosystem multifunctionality and is positively correlated with biodiversity (Barnes et al., 2014, 2018) Average trophic multifunctionality Average standardised energy fluxes, Reflects ecosystem multifunctionality, assuming all representing the set of functions of functions to be equally important (Potapov interest et al., 2019b) Threshold trophic multifunctionality Sum of energy fluxes above a certain Reflects ecosystem multifunctionality, assuming all threshold, representing the set of functions to be equally important (cf. Manning functions of interest et al., 2018) Herbivory Sum of outgoing energy fluxes from Reflects consumption of living plant material in the plants food web (Barnes et al., 2014, 2020) Sum of outgoing energy fluxes from leaf Reflects decomposition, transformation and Litter transformation litter translocation of litter (Lavelle, 1996; Briones, 2014) Soil transformation Sum of outgoing energy fluxes from soil Reflects aggregation, (de)stabilisation, organic matter transformation and translocation of soil organic matter (Jones, Lawton & Shachak, 1994; Lavelle, 1996) Wood transformation Sum of outgoing energy fluxes from Reflects decomposition, transformation and dead wood translocation of recalcitrant detritus, e.g. dead wood (Bradford et al., 2014) Fungal to bacterial energy channelling The ratio of outgoing energy fluxes Reflects slow-to-fast energy channelling in the food web (Moore et al., 2005) and nitrogen between fungi and bacteria mineralisation rate (de Vries et al., 2013) Predation Sum of outgoing energy fluxes from Reflects the biomass of prev being killed per unit of consumer (non-resource) nodes time and area (Barnes et al., 2014; Nyffeler & Birkhofer, 2017) Top-down control Proportion of predation in the total Reflects effectiveness of top-down control in the energy flux, or to the prey node food web, or specific energy channel (Barnes et al., 2020) (S/P in Fig. 7) biomass/energy flux Energetic size spectrum slope Regression slope in body masses-energy Similar to size spectrum slope, reflects overall structure of the food web (Mulder et al., 2008; flux space (food-web nodes represent Trebilco et al., 2013) and varies predictably with observations) soil pH and stoichiometry (Mulder & Elser, 2009) Reflects diversity of resources at the base of the Resource inequality Gini coefficient (Ceriani & Verme, 2012) based on outgoing energy fluxes across food web. High inequality is associated with low basal resources; for calculation see the biodiversity and stability of the system DescTools package (Signorell, 2021) Consumer inequality Gini coefficient based on outgoing Reflects evenness of energy use by consumer energy fluxes to consumers across all community and energetic overdominance. High nodes inequality is associated with low biodiversity and stability of the system Reflects evenness of energy use by different size Energetic size spectrum inequality Gini coefficient based on outgoing energy fluxes to consumers across classes of consumers. High inequality is associated with low biodiversity and stability of nodes belonging to different size classes the system Energetic spatial spectrum inequality Gini coefficient based on outgoing Reflects evenness of energy use by consumer energy fluxes to consumers across community in space (vertically or horizontally). nodes inhabiting different microsites High inequality reflects high heterogeneity of the given function in space

Table 2. Functional indicators based on energy fluxes in the multichannel food-web reconstruction. This non-exhaustive list includes general indicators hypothetically linked to food-web functioning and stability

Effects of the land-use change from rainforest to plantations differed in magnitude and sometimes direction for several indicators between the two reconstructions (Fig. 9C). Although the total energy flux decreased in plantations according to the resource-based reconstruction, it has changed little according to the multichannel reconstruction. Bacterivory, fungivory and total herbivory were reduced by 53-71% in plantations according to the resource-based reconstruction, but the reduction in the first two categories was much smaller (17%) according to the multichannel reconstruction, and there was an increase in total herbivory of 19% (Fig. 9C). This difference reflects the fact that large





Fig. 9. Comparing network topologies and energy flux-based indicators in traditional and multichannel soil food-web reconstructions. This comparison is based on empirical data for nematodes, mesofauna and macrofauna collected from rainforests (F) and oil palm plantations (O) in Sumatra, Indonesia (Krashevska et al., 2019; Potapov et al., 2019b). (A) Resource-based reconstruction is based on the ideas that primary consumers in belowground food webs diverge in their feeding preferences and cluster in resource-based energy channels, such as fungal, bacterial, root (plant) and detrital, that are coupled by predators (Hunt et al., 1987; Moore et al., 2005). Network nodes are ordered according to resource used (x-axis) and trophic position (y-axis). (B) Multichannel reconstruction captures widespread generalism in resource preferences with resource-based energy channels being to a large extent reticulated (Digel et al., 2014; Wolkovich, 2016) and consumers being clustered also in body size and spatial energy channels (Potapov et al., 2021b). Network nodes are ordered according to body mass (x-axis) and trophic position (y-axis). Colours of the network edges highlight predation (dark orange), 'brown' (grey and dark yellow) and 'green' energy channels (green). Node numbers denote different trophic guilds, the numbers for the same guilds are the same in A and B. (C) Comparison of network topology, energy fluxes and integrative indicators of the two reconstructions. The difference in indicators between oil palm plantations and rainforests is shown as the percentage change (effect %); red denotes a reduction in plantations, blue denotes an increase in plantations, black denotes little change (effect < 10%). Integrative indices are described in Table 2; some indices cannot be calculated from resource-based reconstruction (missing values in the table). The two reconstructions resulted not only in different absolute estimations of functional indicators but also show different effects of oil palm cultivation.

detritivores (earthworms in plantations in this case) can feed on multiple resources and thus in part trophically compensate for the decline in the abundance of specialised bacterial, fungal and plant-feeding fauna. The results of the multichannel reconstruction better reflect independent empirical data showing that conversion of rainforest into oil palm

(C) Comparison of food-web parameters

plantations increases the plant energy channel in soil food webs (Klarner *et al.*, 2017; Susanti *et al.*, 2019) and reduces the bacterial, but not the fungal, energy channel (Susanti *et al.*, 2019). In fact, resource-based reconstruction showed that the ratio of fungal to bacterial energy channelling is reduced in oil palm plantations. This contradicts empirical data from several invertebrate taxonomic groups (Susanti *et al.*, 2019).

In both reconstructions, estimates of detritivory were higher in oil palm plantations, despite the lower directly measured litter decomposition in this system compared to that in rainforest (Krashevska et al., 2018). However, in contrast to the resourcebased reconstruction, it was possible with the multichannel reconstruction to distinguish divergent patterns in litter, soil and wood transformation processes (Fig. 9C). A strong decline in the energy flux related to wood transformation suggests that this index may reflect decomposition of recalcitrant organic matter and may be better related to overall litter decomposition (Table 2). A similar decline in both reconstructions was observed for total predation. However, the traditional approach assumed that all predators couple all energy channels, whereas the multichannel approach made it possible to distinguish between predators, coupling (and controlling) different resource, size and spatial energy channels. Network graphs (Fig. 9B) illustrate a substantial reduction of large-sized predators in the soil food webs of oil palm plantations (x-axis reflects body mass), clarifying the mechanisms of predation decline observed in previous reconstructions (Barnes et al., 2014; Potapov et al., 2019b).

Gini inequality indices further reflected unbalanced energy channelling along the size- and spatial food-web dimensions, thus reflecting not only general changes in food-web energetics but also the mechanisms behind these changes (e.g. resource shift or changes in ecosystem structure). In the example given, multichannel reconstruction made it possible to reveal a strong increase in inequality across the size spectrum, vertical spectrum and among consumers [i.e. the dominance of the earthworm node; this group of soil feeders (Fig. 2C) has a large body mass and inhabits soil in plantations]. Increased energetic inequality indicates that food-web multifunctionality and stability may be compromised in plantation systems (Table 2).

IV. EVALUATION AND THE WAY FORWARD

(1) Critical evaluation and knowledge gaps

My main goal was to make soil food-web reconstructions more realistic and more accessible by providing a reproducible analytical framework and by linking energy channelling to various consumer-driven ecosystem functions. I connected soil protists, invertebrates and vertebrates into a single interaction network, allowing the simultaneous quantitative comparison of their ecosystem roles. This reconstruction is scalable across different food-web compartments and different spatial scales. It also can deliver informative ecosystem indicators, some of which could be used to include consumers in biogeochemical models.

However, food-web reconstruction is only as good as our knowledge of soil animal biology, and this knowledge is still fragmentary (Geisen et al., 2019). The feeding habits of many groups have not been validated with rigorous empirical approaches and much of the available information comes from a few well-studied species or ecosystems (Potapov, Tiunov & Scheu, 2019d; Velazco et al., 2021). Shifts in feeding habits is a known response of some soil consumers to environmental changes (Krause et al., 2019), which is hard to include in the food-web reconstruction without direct assessment of trophic interactions. Food webs in different ecosystems are assembled from different species and trophic guilds but the same trophic guild may also shift its ecosystem role if major changes occur in the environment (Susanti et al., 2019). These systematic between-ecosystem variations that could bias comparisons based on feeding guilds should be explored further. Another critical aspect of the food-web reconstruction is defining preferences for omnivorous species that feed both on basal resources and on other consumers (Jochum et al., 2021). Biomass-defined preferences overestimate the contribution of basal resources to the diet due to their omnipresence. In my reconstruction I manually adjusted feeding on basal/animal resources according to existing knowledge (Potapov et al., 2022). This is more realistic than the common practice of assigning equal preferences to all resources (Barnes et al., 2014; Jochum et al., 2021). Nevertheless, such decisions could propagate into biased energy flux estimations (Jochum et al., 2021) and require further validation of feeding preferences across different trophic guilds. Finally, several other assumptions behind the reconstruction, such as the coefficients used for protective mechanisms and PPMRs, should be tested and the effects of different traits quantitatively assessed (Peschel et al., 2006; Schneider & Maraun, 2009; Eitzinger et al., 2018). Despite all these uncertainties, this multichannel food-web reconstruction produced realistic results based on relatively simple rules. Furthermore, this reconstruction is open to further improvement. Importantly, assumptions about food-web topology in traditional food-web reconstructions (Hunt et al., 1987) have never been critically tested and often are not in agreement with empirical data (Digel et al., 2014; Geisen, 2016; Wolkovich, 2016).

The multichannel reconstruction is scalable and can be applied across or within food-web compartments. However, the approach has less power if only a few species from one compartment or size class are considered because of the potentially large effect of species-specific interactions that might be overlooked. This uncertainty is in part counteracted in reconstructions across food-web compartments by the wide range of trophic guilds and taxa considered. Body mass range is particularly important for the reconstruction because of allometric predator–prey interactions. Unfortunately, many studies target only a small component of a soil food-web. In order to change this fragmentary vision to a more holistic approach, this review provides a tool for describing and quantifying entire soil communities, from microbes to vertebrates. Despite being labour intensive and requiring a diverse toolbox, complex assessments of animal communities provide unique opportunities for understanding ecosystem functioning and are feasible with a collaborative approach. Such assessments will become more accessible with the development of new techniques such as image-analysis tools that provide taxonomic identification together with body size and biomass estimations (Ärje *et al.*, 2020).

Revealing the mechanisms that control energy channelling in soil food webs and testing how different energetic configurations of soil food webs affect ecosystem processes in controlled experiments can deliver holistic food-web indicators. A solid test of the multichannel reconstruction approach will require (i) empirical data on trophic interactions in soil food webs across size classes [e.g. using gut DNA analysis, isotopic labelling or compound-specific isotopic approaches (Traugott et al., 2013; Pollierer et al., 2019] in conjunction with (ii) empirical data on ecosystem functioning. Such studies would allow us to validate and refine the multichannel reconstruction, which is a crucial step for upscaling soil food-web effects on ecosystem functioning and including these effects in biogeochemical models. At present there are very few data that relate soil food webs across size classes to multiple soil functions and this needs to be addressed in the future.

(2) Expanding dimensionality

This multichannel reconstruction focuses on the dimensionality of soil food webs across resources, size classes and soil layers. Future developments may introduce additional dimensions, such as the temporal dimension. Although inhabiting the same layer and having similar size, some species or functional guilds may have limited interactions due to differentiation in their daily or seasonal activity patterns. For example, most amphibians are active at night whereas reptiles are often active in the day. Many holometabolous insect groups are active in soils seasonally, before their aboveground imago emerge. Furthermore, in the spatial dimension I focused on the vertical stratification of soil food webs but it would also be possible to consider the horizontal distribution. Soil food webs are clustered around microsites with high activity, i.e. 'hotspots', such as the drilosphere and rhizosphere (Thakur et al., 2020) and local food webs are connected through mobile surface- and aboveground-dwelling consumers into meta-webs (Mougi & Kondoh, 2016; Hirt et al., 2018), which also can be quantified using energy fluxes.

Among specific traits, elemental composition can be considered in the food selection (Buchkowski & Lindo, 2021). Node-specific cannibalistic interactions could be quantified and incorporated. Trait-matching algorithms, such as visual hunting *versus* camouflage protection, could be accounted for. Individual trophic flexibility varies among species (Krause *et al.*, 2019) and defines food choice under different settings, for example depending on resource availability. This characteristic can be included in the model to assign node-specific trophic flexibility. In fact, any functional trait can be incorporated into the multichannel reconstruction to improve predictions of trophic interactions or summarise certain trophic functions. An increase in complexity of the reconstruction due to the incorporation of additional traits will not necessarily lead to a proportional increase in the complexity of the calculations if the trait data and programming code are openly shared (see Table S2 and Appendix S2).

(3) Beyond the soil

This review focused on soil food webs because these food webs are cryptic and less well understood that those in water or above ground and because I was able to validate this approach using my own knowledge. Nevertheless, the energy flux approach can be applied across ecosystem types (Barnes *et al.*, 2018) and the multichannel reconstruction can be expanded to include aboveground, freshwater and marine consumers. By introducing the spatial aspect of habitat preference in the network reconstruction, I enabled quantification of energy fluxes through the nodes that belong to different ecosystem compartments. Network stability and motifs, total fluxes, channel structures, trophic hierarchies and related ecosystem functions can be statistically compared among foodweb compartments, ecosystem types and ecosystems.

V. CONCLUSIONS

- (1) Soil food webs are organised along several dimensions, according to resource use, body size classes and environmental heterogeneity in space. Until now, soil food-web reconstructions did not consider these dimensions together and a reproducible approach to describe widespread omnivory and multichannel feeding of soilassociated consumers has not been available.
- (2) This review describes the multichannel reconstruction of soil food webs based on generic food-web organisation principles and functional classification of consumers, including protists, invertebrates and vertebrates. The reconstruction can be applied using data on trophic guild abundances, even if the trophic links have not been measured directly in the field.
- (3) Using the energy flux approach together with multichannel reconstruction allows existing and proposed novel quantitative indicators of trophic functions and foodweb stability to be generated. These indicators can be used to assess trophic multifunctionality (analogous to ecosystem multifunctionality) and a wide spectrum of single trophic and ecosystem functions, including herbivory, detritus transformation and translocation, microbial grazing and dispersal and top-down control.
- (4) The multichannel reconstruction differs from traditional food-web reconstruction in estimated network topology parameters and calculated trophic functions. The multichannel reconstruction was consistent with some independently measured ecosystem functions

and food-web parameters, but this conclusion remains tentative since systematic research is needed for validation. An advantage of multichannel reconstruction is that it can describe multiple aspects of food-web functioning, providing higher resolution and a better mechanistic understanding of observed food-web variations than traditional food-web reconstructions.

(5) Further development and application of the multichannel reconstruction will allow us to achieve realistic and holistic functional descriptions of soil consumer communities in different ecosystems. Additional characteristics of trophic guilds can be flexibly incorporated into the multichannel approach, bridging food-web ecology with functional trait ecology. After validation with controlled experiments, the suggested functional indicators could be used to depict the contributions of animals and protists to the processes of organic matter transformation and nutrient mineralisation and could allow inclusion in biogeochemical models of features such as the top-down control of ecosystem functioning by consumers in soil on the local, regional and even global scale.

VI. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The work was supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation) project number 192626868 - SFB 990 in the framework of the collaborative German-Indonesian research project CRC990 - EFForTS. The initial idea for the review was developed in the framework of the mobility program 57448388, cofunded by the Czech Academy of Sciences (CAS) and Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst (DAAD). Work was also in part supported by the Alexander von Humboldt foundation in the framework of the Research group linkage programme 1071297-RUS-IP 'Structure and functioning of belowground food webs across temperate and tropical ecosystems'. I am grateful to Malte Jochum for discussions about the energy flux approach and his support during the preparation of this review. I am also grateful to Alexei Tiunov and Stefan Scheu for introducing me to the cryptic world of belowground food webs. Special gratitude goes to Svenja Meyer for preparation of the drawings of animal silhouettes. The manuscript was edited during preparation by Dr A.J. Davis (English Experience Language Services, Göttingen, Germany).

Open Access funding is enabled and organized by Projekt DEAL of George-August-Universität Göttingen.

VII. REFERENCES

References marked with asterisk have been cited within the supporting information*ALLEN, C. R., GARMESTANI, A. S., HAVLICEK, T. D., MARQUET, P. A., PETERSON, G. D., RESTREPO, C., STOW, C. A. & WEEKS, B. E. (2006). Patterns in body mass distributions: sifting among alternative hypotheses. *Ecology Letters* 9, 630–643.

- ALLESINA, S., ALONSO, D. & PASCUAL, M. (2008). A general model for food web structure. *Science* **320**, 658–661.
- ANDERSON, J. M. (1975). The enigma of soil animal species diversity. In Progress in Soil Zoology, pp. 51–58. Springer, Dordrecht.
- ÄRJE, J., MELVAD, C., JEPPESEN, M. R., MADSEN, S. A., RAITOHARJU, J., RASMUSSEN, M. S., IOSIFIDIS, A., TIRRONEN, V., GABBOUJ, M., MEISSNER, K. & HØYE, T. T. (2020). Automatic image-based identification and biomass estimation of invertebrates. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 11, 922–931.
- AVERILL, C., TURNER, B. L. & FINZI, A. C. (2014). Mycorrhiza-mediated competition between plants and decomposers drives soil carbon storage. *Nature* 505, 543–545.
- BARNES, A. D., JOCHUM, M., MUMME, S., HANEDA, N. F., FARAJALLAH, A., WIDARTO, T. H. & BROSE, U. (2014). Consequences of tropical land use for multitrophic biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. *Nature Communications* 5, 5351.
- BARNES, A. D., JOCHUM, M., LEFCHECK, J. S., EISENHAUER, N., SCHERBER, C., O'CONNOR, M. I., DE RUITER, P. & BROSE, U. (2018). Energy flux: the link between multitrophic biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 33, 186–197.
- BARNES, A. D., SCHERBER, C., BROSE, U., BORER, E. T., EBELING, A., GAUZENS, B., GILING, D. P., HINES, J., ISBELL, F., RISTOK, C., TILMAN, D., WEISSER, W. W. & EISENHAUER, N. (2020). Biodiversity enhances the multitrophic control of arthropod herbivory. *Science Advances* 6, eabb6603.
- BAUER, T. & PFEIFFER, M. (1991). 'Shooting'springtails with a sticky rod: the flexible hunting behaviour of *Stenus comma* (Coleoptera; Staphylinidae) and the counterstrategies of its prey. *Animal Behaviour* **41**, 819–828.
- BERG, M. P. & BENGTSSON, J. (2007). Temporal and spatial variability in soil food web structure. Oikos 116, 1789–1804.
- *BLACKBURN, T. M. & GASTON, K. J. (1994). Animal body size distributions: patterns, mechanisms and implications. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 9, 471–474.
- BLANCHARD, J. L., HENEGHAN, R. F., EVERETT, J. D., TREBILCO, R. & RICHARDSON, A. J. (2017). From bacteria to whales: using functional size spectra to model marine ecosystems. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 32, 174–186.
- BLUHM, S. L., POTAPOV, A. M., SHRUBOVYCH, J., AMMERSCHUBERT, S., POLLE, A. & SCHEU, S. (2019). Protura are unique: first evidence of specialized feeding on ectomycorrhizal fungi in soil invertebrates. *BMC Ecology* 19, 1–7.
- BOUCHÉ, M. B. (1977). Strategies lombriciennes. Ecological Bulletins 25, 122-132.
- BRADFORD, M. A. (2016). Re-visioning soil food webs. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 102, 1–3.
- BRADFORD, M. A., JONES, T. H., BARDGETT, R. D., BLACK, H. I., BOAG, B., BONKOWSKI, M., COOK, R., EGGERS, T., GANGE, A. C., GRAYSTON, S. J., KANDELER, E., MCCAIG, A. E., NEWINGTON, J. E., PROSSER, J. I., SETĂLĂ, H., et al. (2002). Impacts of soil faunal community composition on model grassland ecosystems. *Science* 298, 615–618.
- BRADFORD, M. A., WARREN, R. J. II, BALDRIAN, P., CROWTHER, T. W., MAYNARD, D. S., OLDFIELD, E. E., WIEDER, W. R., WOOD, S. A. & KING, J. R. (2014). Climate fails to predict wood decomposition at regional scales. *Nature Climate Change* 4, 625–630.
- BRIONES, M. J. I. (2014). Soil fauna and soil functions: a jigsaw puzzle. Frontiers in Environmental Science 2, 7.
- BROSE, U. & SCHEU, S. (2014). Into darkness: unravelling the structure of soil food webs, *Oikas* 123, 1153–1156.
- BROSE, U., EHNES, R. B., RALL, B. C., VUCIC-PESTIC, O., BERLOW, E. L. & SCHEU, S. (2008). Foraging theory predicts predator-prey energy fluxes. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 77, 1072–1078.
- BROSE, U., ARCHAMBAULT, P., BARNES, A. D., BERSIER, L.-F., BOY, T., CANNING-CLODE, J., CONTI, E., DIAS, M., DIGEL, C., DISSANAYAKE, A., FLORES, A. A. V., FUSSMANN, K., GAUZENS, B., GRAY, C., HÄUSSLER, J., et al. (2019). Predator traits determine food-web architecture across ecosystems. *Nature Ecology & Ecolution* 3, 919–927.
- BROUSSEAU, P.-M., GRAVEL, D. & HANDA, I. T. (2018). Trait matching and phylogeny as predictors of predator–prey interactions involving ground beetles. *Functional Ecology* 32, 192–202.
- BROWN, J. H., GILLOOLY, J. F., ALLEN, A. P., SAVAGE, V. M. & WEST, G. B. (2004). Toward a metabolic theory of ecology. *Ecology* 85, 1771–1789.
- BRUSSAARD, L. (1998). Soil fauna, guilds, functional groups and ecosystem processes. *Applied Soil Ecology* 9, 123–135.
- BUCHKOWSKI, R. W. & LINDO, Z. (2021). Stoichiometric and structural uncertainty in soil food web models. *Functional Ecology* 35, 288–300.
- CARDOSO, P., PEKÁR, S., JOCQUÉ, R. & CODDINGTON, J. A. (2011). Global patterns of guild composition and functional diversity of spiders. *PLoS One* 6, e21710.
- CEBRIAN, J. (1999). Patterns in the fate of production in plant communities. *The American Naturalist* **154**, 449–468.
- CERDÁ, X. & DEJEAN, A. (2011). Predation by ants on arthropods and other animals. In *Predation in the Hymenoptera: an Evolutionary Perspective* (ed. C. POLIDORI), pp. 39–78. Transworld Research Network, Kerala, India
- CERIANI, L. & VERME, P. (2012). The origins of the Gini index: extracts from Variabilità e Mutabilità (1912) by Corrado Gini. *The Journal of Economic Inequality* 10, 421–443.

- CHERTOV, O., KOMAROV, A., SHAW, C., BYKHOVETS, S., FROLOV, P., SHANIN, V., GRABARNIK, P., PRIPUTINA, I., ZUBKOVA, E. & SHASHKOV, M. (2017). Romul_Hum – a model of soil organic matter formation coupling with soil biota activity. II. Parameterisation of the soil food web biota activity. *Ecological Modelling* 345, 125–139.
- CLEMMENSEN, K. E., BAHR, A., OVASKAINEN, O., DAHLBERG, A., EKBLAD, A., WALLANDER, H., STENLID, J., FINLAY, R. D., WARDLE, D. A. & LINDAHL, B. D. (2013). Roots and associated fungi drive long-term carbon sequestration in boreal forest. *Science* **339**, 1615–1618.
- COHEN, J. E., PIMM, S. L., YODZIS, P. & SALDAÑA, J. (1993). Body sizes of animal predators and animal prey in food webs. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 62, 67–78.
- COLEMAN, D. C., CALLAHAM, M. A. & CROSSLEY, D. JR. (2017). Fundamentals of Soil Ecology, 3rd Edition (). Academic Press.
- *COÛTEAUX, M.-M. & DARBYSHIRE, J. F. (1998). Functional diversity amongst soil protozoa. Applied Soil Ecology 10, 229–237.
- CROWTHER, T. W., VAN DEN HOOGEN, J., WAN, J., MAYES, M. A., KEISER, A. D., MO, L., AVERILL, C. & MAYNARD, D. S. (2019). The global soil community and its influence on biogeochemistry. *Science* **365**, 6455.
- DECKMYN, G., FLORES, O., MAYER, M., DOMENE, X., SCHNEPF, A., KUKA, K., LOOY, K. V., RASSE, D. P., BRIONES, M. J. I., BAROT, S., BERG, M., VANGUELOVA, E., OSTONEN, I., VEREECKEN, H., SUZ, L. M., et al. (2020). KEYLINK: towards a more integrative soil representation for inclusion in ecosystem scale models. I. Review and model concept. *Peer***78**, e9750.
- DELGADO-BAQUERIZO, M., REICH, P. B., TRIVEDI, C., ELDRIDGE, D. J., ABADES, S., ALFARO, F. D., BASTIDA, F., BERHE, A. A., CUTLER, N. A., GALLARDO, A., GARCÍA-VELÁZQUEZ, L., HART, S. C., HAYES, P. E., HE, J.-Z., HSEU, Z.-Y., et al. (2020). Multiple elements of soil biodiversity drive ecosystem functions across biomes. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 4, 210–220.
- DIGEL, C., CURTSDOTTER, A., RIEDE, J., KLARNER, B. & BROSE, U. (2014). Unravelling the complex structure of forest soil food webs: higher omnivory and more trophic levels. *Oikos* 123, 1157–1172.
- DOWDY, W. W. (1944). The influence of temperature on vertical migration of invertebrates inhabiting different soil types. *Ecology* 25, 449–460.
- *DRILOBASE (2022). Drilobase project. Electronic file available at http://taxo. drilobase.org/. Accessed 18.03.2022.
- EHNES, R. B., RALL, B. C. & BROSE, U. (2011). Phylogenetic grouping, curvature and metabolic scaling in terrestrial invertebrates: invertebrate metabolism. *Ecology Letters* 14, 993–1000.
- EHNES, R. B., POLLIERER, M. M., ERDMANN, G., KLARNER, B., EITZINGER, B., DIGEL, C., OTT, D., MARAUN, M., SCHEU, S. & BROSE, U. (2014). Lack of energetic equivalence in forest soil invertebrates. *Ecology* 95, 527–537.
- EISENBEIS, G. & WICHARD, W. (1987). Atlas on the Biology of Soil Arthropods (English version of original edition). Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg.
- EITZINGER, B., RALL, B. C., TRAUGOTT, M. & SCHEU, S. (2018). Testing the validity of functional response models using molecular gut content analysis for prey choice in soil predators. *Oikas* 127, 915–926.
- ELLERS, J., BERG, M. P., DIAS, A. T. C., FONTANA, S., OOMS, A. & MORETTI, M. (2018). Diversity in form and function: vertical distribution of soil fauna mediates multidimensional trait variation. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 87, 933–944.
- ERKTAN, A., OR, D. & SCHEU, S. (2020). The physical structure of soil: determinant and consequence of trophic interactions. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry* 148, 107876.
- ETTEMA, C. H. & WARDLE, D. A. (2002). Spatial soil ecology. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 17, 177-183.
- FABER, J. H. (1991). Functional classification of soil fauna: a new approach. Oikos 62, 110.
- *FAGEBRAKKE, K. M., HELDAL, M. & NORLAND, S. (1996). Content of carbon, nitrogen, oxygen, sulfur and phosphorus in native aquatic and cultured bacteria. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology* **10**, 15–27.
- FILSER, J., FABER, J. H., TIUNOV, A. V., BRUSSAARD, L., FROUZ, J., DE DEVN, G., UVAROV, A. V., BERG, M. P., LAVELLE, P., LOREAU, M., WALL, D. H., QUERNER, P., EIJSACKERS, H. & JIMÉNEZ, J. J. (2016). Soil fauna: key to new carbon models. *Soil* 2, 565–582.
- FREEMAN, L. C. (1978). Centrality in social networks conceptual clarification. Social Networks 1, 215–239.
- FUJII, S., BERG, M. P. & CORNELISSEN, J. H. C. (2020). Living litter: dynamic trait spectra predict fauna composition. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 35, 886–896.
- GAUZENS, B., BARNES, A., GILING, D. P., HINES, J., JOCHUM, M., LEFCHECK, J. S., ROSENBAUM, B., WANG, S. & BROSE, U. (2019). *Fluxweb*: an R package to easily estimate energy fluxes in food webs. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 10, 270–279.
- GEISEN, S. (2016). The bacterial-fungal energy channel concept challenged by enormous functional versatility of soil protists. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 102, 22–25.
- *GEISEN, S. & BONKOWSKI, M. (2018). Methodological advances to study the diversity of soil protists and their functioning in soil food webs. *Applied soil ecology* 123, 328–333.
- GEISEN, S., BRIONES, M. J. I., GAN, H., BEHAN-PELLETIER, V. M., FRIMAN, V.-P., ARJEN DE GROOT, G., HANNULA, S. E., LINDO, Z., PHILIPPOT, L., TIUNOV, A. V. & WALL, D. H. (2019). A methodological framework to embrace soil biodiversity. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 136, 107536.

- GHILAROV, M. S. (1949). Features of Soil as a Habitat and its Importance in the Evolution of Insects. Russian Academy of Sciences, Moscow.
- GISIN, H. (1943). Ökologie und lebensgemeinschaften der collembolen im schweizerischen exkursionsgebiet Basels. A. Kundig, Geneve.
- GONGALSKY, K. B. (2021). Soil macrofauna: study problems and perspectives. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 159, 108281.
- GONGALSKY, K. B., ŽAITSEV, A. S., KOROBUSHKIN, D. I., SAIFUTDINOV, R. A., BUTENKO, K. O., VRIES, F. T., EKSCHMITT, K., DEGTYAREV, M. I., GORBUNOVA, A. Y., KOSTINA, N. V., RAKHLEEVA, A. A., SHAKHAB, S. V., YAZRIKOVA, T. E., WOLTERS, V. & BARDGETT, R. D. (2021). Forest fire induces short-term shifts in soil food webs with consequences for carbon cycling. *Ecology Letters* 24, 438–450.
- *GONZÁLEZ, A. L., DÉZERALD, O., MARQUET, P. A., ROMERO, G. Q. & SRIVASTAVA, D. S. (2017). The multidimensional stoichiometric niche. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 5, 110.
- GRANDY, A. S., WIEDER, W. R., WICKINGS, K. & KYKER-SNOWMAN, E. (2016). Beyond microbes: are fauna the next frontier in soil biogeochemical models? *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **102**, 40–44.
- GRASS, I., KUBITZA, C., KRISHNA, V. V., CORRE, M. D., MUSSHOFF, O., PÜTZ, P., DRESCHER, J., REMBOLD, K., ARIYANTI, E. S., BARNES, A. D., BRINKMANN, N., BROSE, U., BRÜMMER, B., BUCHORI, D., DANIEL, R., et al. (2020). Trade-offs between multifunctionality and profit in tropical smallholder landscapes. *Nature Communications* 11, 1186.
- GUERRA, C. A., HEINTZ-BUSCHART, A., SIKORSKI, J., CHATZINOTAS, A., GUERRERO-RAMÍREZ, N., CESARZ, S., BEAUMELLE, L., RILLIG, M. C., MAESTRE, F. T., DELGADO-BAQUERIZO, M., BUSCOT, F., OVERMANN, J., PATOINE, G., PHILLIPS, H. R. P., WINTER, M., et al. (2020). Blind spots in global soil biodiversity and ecosystem function research. *Nature Communications* 11, 3870.
- HERBERSTEIN, M. E. (2011). Spider Behaviour: Flexibility and Versatility. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England.
- HINES, J., VAN DER PUTTEN, W. H., DE DEYN, G. B., WAGG, C., VOIGT, W., MULDER, C., WEISSER, W. W., ENGEL, J., MELIAN, C., SCHEU, S., BIRKHOFER, K., EBELING, A., SCHERBER, C. & EISENHAUER, N. (2015). Towards an integration of biodiversity–ecosystem functioning and food web theory to evaluate relationships between multiple ecosystem services. Advances in Ecological Research 53, 161–199.
- HINES, J., GILING, D. P., RZANNY, M., VOIGT, W., MEYER, S. T., WEISSER, W. W., EISENHAUER, N. & EBELING, A. (2019). A meta-food web for invertebrate species collected in a european grassland. *Ecology* **100**, e02679.
- HIRT, M. R., GRIMM, V., LI, Y., RALL, B. C., ROSENBAUM, B. & BROSE, U. (2018). Bridging scales: allometric random walks link movement and biodiversity research. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 33, 701–712.
- VAN DEN HOOGEN, J., GEISEN, S., ROUTH, D., FERRIS, H., TRAUNSPURGER, W., WARDLE, D. A., DE GOEDE, R. G. M., ADAMS, B. J., AHMAD, W., ANDRIUZZI, W. S., BARDGETT, R. D., BONKOWSKI, M., CAMPOS-HERRERA, R., CARES, J. E., CARUSO, T., et al. (2019). Soil nematode abundance and functional group composition at a global scale. *Nature* 572, 194–198.
- HOPKIN, S. P. (1997). Biology of Springtails: (Insecta: Collembola). Oxford Science Publications, Oxford.
- HUNT, H. W., COLEMAN, D. C., INGHAM, E. R., INGHAM, R. E., ELLIOTT, E. T., MOORE, J. C., ROSE, S. L., REID, C. P. P. & MORLEY, C. R. (1987). The detrital food web in a shortgrass prairie. *Biology and Fetility of Soils* 3, 57–68.
- *HUTCHINSON, G. E. & MACARTHUR, R. H. (1959). A theoretical ecological model of size distributions among species of animals. *The American Naturalist* 93, 117–125.
- HYODO, F., KOHZU, A. & TAYASU, I. (2010). Linking aboveground and belowground food webs through carbon and nitrogen stable isotope analyses. *Ecological Research* 25, 745–756.
- HYODO, F., MATSUMOTO, T., TAKEMATSU, Y. & ITIOKA, T. (2015). Dependence of diverse consumers on detritus in a tropical rain forest food web as revealed by radiocarbon analysis. *Functional Ecology* 29, 423–429.
- JOCHUM, M., BARNES, A. D., OTT, D., LANG, B., KLARNER, B., FARAJALLAH, A., SCHEU, S. & BROSE, U. (2017). Decreasing stoichiometric resource quality drives compensatory feeding across trophic levels in tropical litter invertebrate communities. *The American Naturalist* **190**, 131–143.
- JOCHUM, M., BARNES, A. D., BROSE, U., GAUZENS, B., SÜNNEMANN, M., AMYNTAS, A. & EISENHAUER, N. (2021). For flux's sake: general considerations for energy-flux calculations in ecological communities. *Ecology and Evolution* 11, 12948–12969.
- JONES, C. G., LAWTON, J. H. & SHACHAK, M. (1994). Organisms as ecosystem engineers. Oikos 69, 373–386.
- KLARNER, B., WINKELMANN, H., KRASHEVSKA, V., MARAUN, M., WIDYASTUTI, R. & SCHEU, S. (2017). Trophic niches, diversity and community composition of invertebrate top predators (Chilopoda) as affected by conversion of tropical lowland rainforest in Sumatra (Indonesia). *PLoS One* **12**, e0180915.
- KRASHEVSKA, V., MALYSHEVA, E., KLARNER, B., MAZEI, Y., MARAUN, M., WIDYASTUTI, R. & SCHEU, S. (2018). Micro-decomposer communities and

decomposition processes in tropical lowlands as affected by land use and litter type. *Oecologia* 187, 255–266.

- KRASHEVSKA, V., KUDRIN, A. A., WIDYASTUTI, R. & SCHEU, S. (2019). Changes in nematode communities and functional diversity with the conversion of rainforest into rubber and oil palm plantations. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution* 7, 487.
- KRAUSE, A., SANDMANN, D., BLUHM, S. L., ERMILOV, S., WIDYASTUTI, R., HANEDA, N. F., SCHEU, S. & MARAUN, M. (2019). Shift in trophic niches of soil microarthropods with conversion of tropical rainforest into plantations as indicated by stable isotopes (15N, 13C). *PLoS One* 14, e0224520.
- LAIGLE, I., AUBIN, I., DIGEL, C., BROSE, U., BOULANGEAT, I. & GRAVEL, D. (2018). Species traits as drivers of food web structure. *Oikos* 127, 316–326.
- LANG, B., EHNES, R. B., BROSE, U. & RALL, B. C. (2017). Temperature and consumer type dependencies of energy flows in natural communities. *Oikos* 126, 1717–1725.
- LARABEE, F. J. & SUAREZ, A. V. (2015). Mandible-powered escape jumps in trap-jaw ants increase survival rates during predator-prey encounters. *PLoS One* 10, e0124871.
- LARSEN, T., POLLIERER, M. M., HOLMSTRUP, M., D'ANNIBALE, A., MARALDO, K., ANDERSEN, N. & ERIKSEN, J. (2016). Substantial nutritional contribution of bacterial amino acids to carthworms and enchytraeids: a case study from organic grasslands. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 99, 21–27.
- LAVELLE, P. (1996). Diversity of soil fauna and ecosystem function. *Biology International* 33, 3–16.
- LAVELLE, P. & MARTIN, A. (1992). Small-scale and large-scale effects of endogeic earthworms on soil organic matter dynamics in soils of the humid tropics. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 24, 1491–1498.
- LAVELLE, P., BIGNELL, D., LEPAGE, M., WOLTERS, V., ROGER, P., INESON, P., HEAL, O. & DHILLION, S. (1997). Soil function in a changing world: the role of invertebrate ecosystem engineers. *European Journal of Soil Biology (France)* 33, 159–193.
- LI, Z., TIAN, D., WANG, B., WANG, J., WANG, S., CHEN, H. Y. H., XU, X., WANG, C., HE, N. & NIU, S. (2019). Microbes drive global soil nitrogen mineralization and availability. *Global Change Biology* 25, 1078–1088.
- LUCZKOVICH, J. J., BORGATTI, S. P., JOHNSON, J. C. & EVERETT, M. G. (2003). Defining and measuring trophic role similarity in food webs using regular equivalence. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* **220**, 303–321.
- MANNING, P., VAN DER PLAS, F., SOLIVERES, S., ALLAN, E., MAESTRE, F. T., MACE, G., WHITTINGHAM, M. J. & FISCHER, M. (2018). Redefining ecosystem multifunctionality. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 2, 427–436.
- MARAUN, M., ERDMANN, G., FISCHER, B. M., POLLIERER, M. M., NORTON, R. A., SCHNEIDER, K. & SCHEU, S. (2011). Stable isotopes revisited: their use and limits for oribatid mite trophic ecology. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 43, 877–882.
- *MENDEN-DEUER, S. & LESSARD, E. J. (2000). Carbon to volume relationships for dinoflagellates, diatoms, and other protist plankton. *Limnology and Oceanography* 45, 569–579.
- MOORE, J. C., WALTER, D. E. & HUNT, H. W. (1988). Arthropod regulation of microand mesobiota in below-ground detrital food webs. *Annual Review of Entomology* 33, 419–435.
- MOORE, J. C., BERLOW, E. L., COLEMAN, D. C., RUITER, P. C., DONG, Q., HASTINGS, A., JOHNSON, N. C., MCCANN, K. S., MELVILLE, K., MORIN, P. J., NADELHOFFER, K., ROSEMOND, A. D., POST, D. M., SABO, J. L., SCOW, K. M., et al. (2004). Detritus, trophic dynamics and biodiversity. *Ecology Letters* 7, 584–600.
- MOORE, J. C., MCCANN, K. & DE RUITER, P. C. (2005). Modeling trophic pathways, nutrient cycling, and dynamic stability in soils. *Pedobiologia* 49, 499–510.
- MOUGI, A. & KONDOH, M. (2016). Food-web complexity, meta-community complexity and community stability. *Scientific Reports* **6**, 24478.
- MULDER, C. (2006). Driving forces from soil invertebrates to ecosystem functioning: the allometric perspective. *Naturwissenschaften* 93, 467–479.
- MULDER, C. & ELSER, J. J. (2009). Soil acidity, ecological stoichiometry and allometric scaling in grassland food webs. *Global Change Biology* 15, 2730–2738.
- MULDER, C., DEN HOLLANDER, H. A. & HENDRIKS, A. J. (2008). Aboveground herbivory shapes the biomass distribution and flux of soil invertebrates. *PLOS ONE* 3, e3573.
- MULDER, C., VONK, J. A., DEN HOLLANDER, H. A., HENDRIKS, A. J. & BREURE, A. M. (2011). How allometric scaling relates to soil abiotics. *Oikos* 120, 529–536.
- NEWMAN, M. E. & GIRVAN, M. (2004). Finding and evaluating community structure in networks. *Physical Review E* 69, 026113.
- *NOVOTNÁ JAROMÉRSKÁ, T., TRUBAC, J., ZAWIERUCHA, K., VONDROVICOVÁ, L., DEVETTER, M. & ZÁRSKY, J. D. (2021). Stable isotopic composition of top consumers in Arctic cryoconite holes: revealing divergent roles in a supraglacial trophic networks. *Biogeosciences* 18, 1543–1557.
- NYFFELER, M. & BIRKHOFER, K. (2017). An estimated 400–800 million tons of prey are annually killed by the global spider community. *The Science of Nature* **104**, 30.
- OKUZAKI, Y., TAYASU, I., OKUDA, N. & SOTA, T. (2009). Vertical heterogeneity of a forest floor invertebrate food web as indicated by stable-isotope analysis. *Ecological Research* 24, 1351–1359.

- OLIVERIO, A. M., GEISEN, S., DELGADO-BAQUERIZO, M., MAESTRE, F. T., TURNER, B. L. & FIERER, N. (2020). The global-scale distributions of soil protists and their contributions to belowground systems. *Science Advances* 6, eaax8787.
- OSTLE, N., BRIONES, M. J. I., INESON, P., COLE, L., STADDON, P. & SLEEP, D. (2007). Isotopic detection of recent photosynthate carbon flow into grassland rhizosphere fauna. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **39**, 768–777.
- *PANDIAN, T. J. & MARIAN, M. P. (1986). An indirect procedure for the estimation of assimilation efficiency of aquatic insects. *Freshvater Biology* **16**, 93–98.
- PESCHEL, K., NORTON, R. A., SCHEU, S. & MARAUN, M. (2006). Do oribatid mites live in enemy-free space? Evidence from feeding experiments with the predatory mite Pergamasus septentrionalis. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 38, 2985–2989.
- PETCHEY, O. L. & BELGRANO, A. (2010). Body-size distributions and size-spectra: universal indicators of ecological status? *Biology Letters* 6, 434–437.
- PETCHEY, O. L., BECKERMAN, A. P., RIEDE, J. O. & WARREN, P. H. (2008). Size, foraging, and food web structure. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 105, 4191–4196.
- PHILLIPS, H. R. P., GUERRA, C. A., BARTZ, M. L. C., BRIONES, M. J. I., BROWN, G., CROWTHER, T. W., FERLIAN, O., GONGALSKY, K. B., VAN DEN HOOGEN, J., KREBS, J., ORGIAZZI, A., ROUTH, D., SCHWARZ, B., BACH, E. M., BENNETT, J., et al. (2019). Global distribution of earthworm diversity. *Science* 366, 480–485.
- POKARZHEVSKII, A. D., VAN STRAALEN, N. M., ZABOEV, D. P. & ZAITSEV, A. S. (2003). Microbial links and element flows in nested detrital food-webs. *Pedobiologia* 47, 213–224.
- POLLIERER, M. M., LANGEL, R., KÖRNER, C., MARAUN, M. & SCHEU, S. (2007). The underestimated importance of belowground carbon input for forest soil animal food webs. *Ecology Letters* 10, 729–736.
- POLLIERER, M. M., DYCKMANS, J., SCHEU, S. & HAUBERT, D. (2012). Carbon flux through fungi and bacteria into the forest soil animal food web as indicated by compound-specific 13C fatty acid analysis. *Functional Ecology* 26, 978–990.
- POLLIERER, M. M., LARSEN, T., POTAPOV, A., BRÜCKNER, A., HEETHOFF, M., DYCKMANS, J. & SCHEU, S. (2019). Compound-specific isotope analysis of amino acids as a new tool to uncover trophic chains in soil food webs. *Ecological Monographs* 89, e01384.
- PONGE, J.-F. (2000). Vertical distribution of Collembola (Hexapoda) and their food resources in organic horizons of beech forests. *Biology and Fertility of Soils* 32, 508–522.
- POTAPOV, A. M. & TIUNOV, A. V. (2016). Stable isotope composition of mycophagous collembolans versus mycotrophic plants: do soil invertebrates feed on mycorrhizal fungi? *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **93**, 115–118.
- POTAPOV, A. M., SEMENINA, E. E., KOROTKEVICH, A. Y., KUZNETSOVA, N. A. & TIUNOV, A. V. (2016). Connecting taxonomy and ecology: trophic niches of collembolans as related to taxonomic identity and life forms. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 101, 20–31.
- POTAPOV, Å. M., KOROTKEVICH, A. Y. & TIUNOV, A. V. (2018). Non-vascular plants as a food source for litter-dwelling Collembola: field evidence. *Pedobiologia* 66, 11–17.
- POTAPOV, A., BROSE, U., SCHEU, S. & TIUNOV, A. (2019a). Trophic position of consumers and size structure of food webs across aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems. *The American Naturalist* **194**, 823–839.
- POTAPOV, A. M., KLARNER, B., SANDMANN, D., WIDYASTUTI, R. & SCHEU, S. (2019b). Linking size spectrum, energy flux and trophic multifunctionality in soil food webs of tropical land-use systems. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **88**, 1845–1859.
- POTAPOV, A. M., SCHEU, S. & TIUNOV, A. V. (2019c). Trophic consistency of supraspecific taxa in belowground invertebrate communities: comparison across lineages and taxonomic ranks. *Functional Ecology* 33, 1172–1183.
- POTAPOV, A. M., TIUNOV, A. V. & SCHEU, S. (2019d). Uncovering trophic positions and food resources of soil animals using bulk natural stable isotope composition. *Biological Reviews* 94, 37–59.
- POTAPOV, A. M., TIUNOV, A. V., SCHEU, S., LARSEN, T. & POLLIERER, M. M. (2019e). Combining bulk and amino acid stable isotope analyses to quantify trophic level and basal resources of detritivores: a case study on earthworms. *Oecologia* **189**, 447–460.
- POTAPOV, A., BELLINI, B., CHOWN, S., DEHARVENG, L., JANSSENS, F., KOVÁČ, Ľ., KUZNETSOVA, N., PONGE, J.-F., POTAPOV, M., QUERNER, P., RUSSELL, D., SUN, X., ZHANG, F. & BERG, M. (2020). Towards a global synthesis of Collembola knowledge – challenges and potential solutions. *Soil Organisms* 92, 161–188.
- POTAPOV, A. M., POLLIERER, M. M., SALMON, S., ŠUSTR, V. & CHEN, T.-W. (2021a). Multidimensional trophic niche revealed by complementary approaches: gut content, digestive enzymes, fatty acids and stable isotopes in Collembola. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **90**, 1919–1933.
- POTAPOV, A. M., ROZANOVA, O. L., SEMENINA, E. E., LEONOV, V. D., BELYAKOVA, O. I., BOGATYREVA, V. I., DEGTYAREV, M. I., ESAULOV, A. S., KOROTKEVICH, A. Y., KUDRIN, A. A., MALYSHEVA, E., MAZEI, Y. A., TSURIKOV, S. M., ZUEV, A. G. & TIUNOV, A. V. (2021b). Size compartmentalisation of energy channeling in terrestrial belowground food webs. *Ecology* **102**, e03421.
- POTAPOV, A. M., BIRKHOFER, K., BLUHM, S. L., BRYNDOVA, M., DEVETTER, M., GONCHAROV, A. A., GONGALSKY, K. B., KLARNER, B., KOROBUSHKIN, D. I.,

LIEBKE, D., MARAUN, M., MCDONNELL, R., POLLIERER, M. M., SCHMIDT, O., SCHRUBOVICH, J., et al. (2022). Feeding habits and multifunctional classification of belowground consumers from protists to vertebrates. *Biological Reviews*. https: //doi.org/10.1111/brv.12832.

- REDFORD, K. H. (1985). Feeding and food preference in captive and wild giant anteaters (Myrmecophaga tridactyla). Journal of Zoology 205, 559–572.
- ROONEY, N., MCCANN, K., GELLNER, G. & MOORE, J. C. (2006). Structural asymmetry and the stability of diverse food webs. *Nature* 442, 265–269.
- DE RUITER, P. C., VAN VEEN, J. A., MOORE, J. C., BRUSSAARD, L. & HUNT, H. W. (1993). Calculation of nitrogen mineralization in soil food webs. *Plant and Soil* 157, 263–273.
- DE RUITER, P. C., NEUTEL, A.-M. & MOORE, J. C. (1995). Energetics, patterns of interaction strengths, and stability in real ecosystems. *Science* **269**, 1257–1260.
- SCHEU, S. (2001). Plants and generalist predators as links between the below-ground and above-ground system. *Basic and Applied Ecology* 2, 3–13.
- SCHEU, S. & SETÄLÄ, H. (2002). Multitrophic interactions in decomposer food-webs. In *Multitrophic Level Interactions*, pp. 223–264. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England.
- SCHMIDT, O., DYCKMANS, J. & SCHRADER, S. (2016). Photoautotrophic microorganisms as a carbon source for temperate soil invertebrates. *Biology Letters* 12, 20150646.
- SCHNEIDER, K. & MARAUN, M. (2009). Top-down control of soil microarthropods evidence from a laboratory experiment. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 41, 170–175.
- SEPPEY, C. V., SINGER, D., DUMACK, K., FOURNIER, B., BELBAHRI, L., MITCHELL, E. A. & LARA, E. (2017). Distribution patterns of soil microbial eukaryotes suggests widespread algivory by phagotrophic protists as an alternative pathway for nutrient cycling. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **112**, 68–76.
- SIGNORELL, A. (2021). DescTools: Tools for Descriptive Statistics.
- SOONG, J. L. & NIELSEN, U. N. (2016). The role of microarthropods in emerging models of soil organic matter. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 102, 37–39.
- *STEAD, T. K., SCHMID-ARAYA, J. M., SCHMID, P. E. & HILDREW, A. G. (2005). The distribution of body size in a stream community: one system, many patterns. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 74, 475–487.
- STEFFAN, S. A., CHIKARAISHI, Y., DHARAMPAL, P. S., PAULI, J. N., GUÉDOT, C. & OHKOUCHI, N. (2017). Unpacking brown food-webs: animal trophic identity reflects rampant microbivory. *Ecology and Evolution* 7, 3532–3541.
- STRIGANOVA, B. (1980). Feeding of Soil Saprophages. Nauka, Moscow.
- SUSANTI, W. I., POLLIERER, M. M., WIDYASTUTI, R., SCHEU, S. & POTAPOV, A. (2019). Conversion of rainforest to oil palm and rubber plantations alters energy channels in soil food webs. *Ecology and Evolution* 9, 9027–9039.
- SWIFT, M. J., HEAL, O. W. & ANDERSON, J. M. (1979). Decomposition in Terrestrial Ecosystems. University of California Press, Berkeley.
- THAKUR, M. P. & GEISEN, S. (2019). Trophic regulations of the soil microbiome. Trends in Microbiology 27, 771–780.
- THAKUR, M. P., PHILLIPS, H. R. P., BROSE, U., DE VRIES, F. T., LAVELLE, P., LOREAU, M., MATHIEU, J., MULDER, C., VAN DER PUTTEN, W. H., RILLIG, M. C., WARDLE, D. A., BACH, E. M., BARTZ, M. L. C., BENNETT, J. M., BRIONES, M. J. I., et al. (2020). Towards an integrative understanding of soil biodiversity. *Biological Reviews* 95, 350–364.
- THOMPSON, R. M., HEMBERG, M., STARZOMSKI, B. M. & SHURIN, J. B. (2007). Trophic levels and trophic tangles: the prevalence of omnivory in real food webs. *Ecology* 88, 612–617.
- TRAUGOTT, M., KAMENOVA, S., RUESS, L., SEEBER, L. & PLANTEGENEST, M. (2013). Empirically characterising trophic networks: what emerging DNA-based methods, stable isotope and fatty acid analyses can offer. Advances in Ecological Research 49, 177–224.
- TREBILCO, R., BAUM, J. K., SALOMON, A. K. & DULVY, N. K. (2013). Ecosystem ecology: size-based constraints on the pyramids of life. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 28, 423–431.
- TURNBULL, M. S., GEORGE, P. B. L. & LINDO, Z. (2014). Weighing in: size spectra as a standard tool in soil community analyses. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 68, 366–372.

- VELAZCO, V. N., SARAVIA, L. A., COVIELLA, C. E. & FALCO, L. B. (2021). Trophic resources of the edaphic mesofauna: a worldwide review of the empirical evidence. *Preprint*. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.02.06.430061.
- DE VRIES, F. T. & CARUSO, T. (2016). Eating from the same plate? Revisiting the role of labile carbon inputs in the soil food web. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 102, 4–9.
- DE VRIES, F. T., THEBAULT, E., LIIRI, M., BIRKHOFER, K., TSIAFOULI, M. A., BJORNLUND, L., JORGENSEN, H. B., BRADY, M. V., CHRISTENSEN, S., DE RUITER, P. C., D'HERTEFELDT, T., FROUZ, J., HEDLUND, K., HEMERIK, L., HOL, W. H. G., et al. (2013). Soil food web properties explain ecosystem services across European land use systems. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 110, 14296–14301.
- WAGG, C., BENDER, S. F., WIDMER, F. & VAN DER HEIJDEN, M. G. A. (2014). Soil biodiversity and soil community composition determine ecosystem multifunctionality. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 111, 5266–5270.
- WARDLE, D. A. (2002). Communities and Ecosystems: Linking the Aboveground and Belowground Components. Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- WARDLE, D., BARDGETT, R., KLIRONOMOS, J., SETÄLÄ, H., PUTTEN, W. & WALL, D. (2004). Ecological Linkages between Aboveground and Belowground Biota. *Science* **304**, 1629–1633.
- WOLKOVICH, E. M. (2016). Reticulated channels in soil food webs. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 102, 18–21.
- WOLKOVICH, E. M., ALLESINA, S., COTTINGHAM, K. L., MOORE, J. C., SANDIN, S. A. & DE MAZANCOURT, C. (2014). Linking the green and brown worlds: the prevalence and effect of multichannel feeding in food webs. *Ecology* 95, 3376–3386.
- WOODWARD, G., EBENMAN, B., EMMERSON, M., MONTOYA, J. M., OLESEN, J. M., VALIDO, A. & WARREN, P. H. (2005). Body size in ecological networks. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 20, 402–409.
- XU, X., THORNTON, P. E. & POST, W. M. (2013). A global analysis of soil microbial biomass carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus in terrestrial ecosystems: global soil microbial biomass C, N and P. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 22, 737–749.
- YODZIS, P. & WINEMILLER, K. O. (1999). In search of operational Trophospecies in a tropical aquatic food web. *Oikas* 87, 327.

VIII. Supporting information

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article.

Appendix S1. Description of food-web reconstruction.

Table S1. List of trophic guilds used in the example reconstruction for temperate forests.

Table S3. Correction coefficients for predator traits used in food-web reconstruction.

Table S4. Correction coefficients for prey traits used in food-web reconstruction.

Appendix S2. R code for multichannel food-web reconstruction.

Table S2. Full list of trophic guilds with trait values used in the model.

(Received 21 September 2021; revised 25 March 2022; accepted 28 March 2022; published online 7 April 2022)